

1

The fossil record of freshwater Gastropoda – a global review

Thomas A. Neubauer^{1,2,3,*}

¹Department of Animal Ecology and Systematics, Justus Liebig University, Heinrich-Buff-Ring 26 (iFZ), Giessen 35392, Germany

²SNSB – Bavarian State Collection for Palaeontology and Geology, Richard-Wagner-Straße 10, Munich 80333, Germany

³Naturalis Biodiversity Center, Darwinweg 2, Leiden 2333 CR, The Netherlands

ABSTRACT

Gastropoda are an exceptionally successful group with a rich and diverse fossil record. They have conquered land and freshwater habitats multiple times independently and have dispersed across the entire globe. Since they are important constituents of fossil assemblages, they are often used for palaeoecological reconstruction, biostratigraphic correlations, and as model groups to study morphological and taxonomic evolution. While marine faunas and their evolution have been a common subject of study, the freshwater component of the fossil record has attracted much less attention, and a global overview is lacking. Here, I review the fossil record of freshwater gastropods on a global scale, ranging from their origins in the late Palaeozoic to the Pleistocene. As compiled here, the global fossil record of freshwater Gastropoda includes 5182 species in 490 genera, 44 families, and 12 superfamilies over a total of ~340 million years. Following a slow and poorly known start in the late Palaeozoic, diversity slowly increased during the Mesozoic. Diversity culminated in an all-time high in the Neogene, relating to diversification in numerous long-lived (ancient) lakes in Europe. I summarise well-documented and hypothesised freshwater colonisation events and compare the patterns found in freshwater gastropods to those in land snails. Furthermore, I discuss potential preservation and sampling biases, as well as the main drivers underlying species diversification in fresh water on a larger scale. In that context, I particularly highlight the importance of long-lived lakes as islands and archives of evolution and expand a well-known concept in ecology and evolution to a broader spectrum: scale-independent ecological opportunity.

Key words: biodiversity, colonisation, ecological opportunity, long-lived lakes, non-marine Mollusca, palaeogeography, preservation.

CONTENTS

I. Introduction	2
II. Materials and methods	3
III. A global review of the fossil record	4
(1) The origin of freshwater gastropods: the Palaeozoic	4
(a) Carboniferous	4
(b) Permian	4
(2) A slow but steady diversification: the Mesozoic	5
(a) Triassic	5
(b) Jurassic	6
(c) Cretaceous	8
(3) Unprecedented peaks of diversity: the Cenozoic	9
(a) Palaeogene	9
(b) Neogene 1	0
(c) Quaternary 1	0
IV. Colonisation of fresh water	2

^{*} Author for correspondence (Tel.: +0049 (0)89 2180 6541; E-mail: neubauer@snsb.de).

Biological Reviews (2023) 000–000 © 2023 The Author. *Biological Reviews* published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Γhomas A. Neubaι

V.	Gastropods on land	.14
VI.	The uneven distribution of diversity	.14
VII.	Conclusions	.16
VIII.	Acknowledgements	.17
IX.	Data availability statement	.17
Χ.	References	.17
XI.	Supporting information	.23

I. INTRODUCTION

Phylum Mollusca is one of the most speciose groups in the animal kingdom. Estimates for species richness range from 70,000 to 120,000 described valid species, and up to 200,000 including undescribed species [Rosenberg, 2014; Bouchet *et al.* (2016), and references therein]. A latest query of the online database MolluscaBase lists 85,852 accepted extant species as of 16 May 2023 (MolluscaBase eds, 2023).

Mollusca are an extraordinarily successful group, not only reflected in their high extant diversity but also their wide geographic and ecological distribution. Mollusca are globally distributed and have conquered nearly all types of environments, from marine to freshwater to terrestrial; they occur from deep-sea trenches to mountain tops, and from tropical forests to desert environments (Leal & Harasewych, 1999; Strong *et al.*, 2008; Haszprunar & Wanninger, 2012; Gittenberger *et al.*, 2021; MolluscaBase eds, 2023). The majority of species (~50,500) are marine or brackish-water species, ~28,400 are terrestrial snails, and ~6700 are freshwater gastropods and bivalves (MolluscaBase eds, 2023).

The success of Mollusca today is rooted in a long and rich fossil record that dates back to the early Cambrian, ~540 million years (Myr) ago (Wanninger & Wollesen, 2019). Their evolutionary origins probably reach even into the terminal Ediacaran, although no Ediacaran fossil material can yet be unambiguously attributed to molluscs (Vinther, 2015; Zhuravlev & Wood, 2018; Wanninger & Wollesen, 2019). Similar to their extant diversity, marine molluscs make up the majority of species richness in the fossil record. Fossil marine molluscs are comparatively well studied and patterns in their diversity through deep time are well known (e.g. Wagner, 1995; Dmitriev & Nevesskaja, 2006; Nevesskaya, 2008; Vinarski, Bondarev & Markov, 2011; Mondal & Harries, 2016; Rineau, Smyčka & Storch, 2022).

Freshwater molluscs have received considerably less attention. With 6658 described extant species (MolluscaBase eds, 2023), representing 7.8% of mollusc total diversity, they are still a relatively diverse group considering that their freshwater habitats occupy less than 1% of the planet's surface (Strayer & Dudgeon, 2010; Darwall *et al.*, 2020). Freshwater habitats and molluscs provide important ecosystem services that sustain human populations in terms of freshwater supply, nutrition, and health (Green *et al.*, 2015; EEA, 2019).

With 7558 valid species, the fossil record of freshwater molluscs is at a similar magnitude as today's diversity (MolluscaBase eds, 2023). Fossil freshwater molluscs have been found on all continents including Antarctica (Taylor, 1988; Martínez et al., 2020). The oldest ascertained freshwater representatives are bivalves and date back to the Devonian (Taylor, 1988). A much more diversified record is known from Carboniferous and Permian strata, although none of the Palaeozoic freshwater Bivalvia are attributable to modern families (Trueman & Weir, 1946–1968; Taylor, 1988; Skawina & Dzik, 2011; Silantiev, 2018). The Palaeozoic record of freshwater gastropods is much less certain and poorly resolved. Earliest records may also date back into the Devonian, followed by a few species known from Carboniferous and Permian deposits, yet their systematic placement and even their status as freshwater fossils is usually uncertain (Solem & Yochelson, 1979).

Freshwater colonisation took place multiple times independently in molluscs. Accounting for both fossil and recent molluscs, at least 20 clades of gastropods and 17 of bivalves contain freshwater taxa (Vermeij & Dudley, 2000; Miller & Labandeira, 2002; Vermeij & Wesselingh, 2002). Strong *et al.* (2008) considered there to be 33–38 independent freshwater lineages among extant Gastropoda alone.

In the fossil record, freshwater molluscs are important indicators for palaeoecological conditions (e.g. Van Damme & Pickford, 1994; Miller & Tevesz, 2001; Wesselingh *et al.*, 2002; Nishida *et al.*, 2013; Van Bocxlaer, 2020) and some evolutionary lineages qualify as stratigraphic markers (e.g. Taktakishvili, 1967; Hartman, 1998; Magyar & Geary, 2012; Neubauer, Harzhauser & Kroh, 2013; Mandic *et al.*, 2015; Lubenescu, 2016). They have also been used to study the patterns, modes, and processes of evolution and biodiversity build-up and decline (e.g. Taktakishvili, 1967; Neubauer *et al.*, 2013, 2014*a*, 2015*b*, 2021, 2022*a,b*; Rasser & Covich, 2014; Neubauer & Harzhauser, 2022), or to reconstruct palaeobiogeographic relationships (Taylor, 1988; Watters, 2001; Wesselingh, 2007; Harzhauser & Mandic, 2008; Neubauer *et al.*, 2015*c*, 2016*c*).

Despite a rich and long fossil record of freshwater Gastropoda, paired with a long research tradition, there are relatively few large-scale overviews in the literature. The first comprehensive assessment was made by Wenz (1923–1930), who provided a systematic catalogue of all fossil species of land and freshwater gastropods from the Cenozoic (mostly of Europe) known until then, along with systematic revisions and extensive synonymies. In a similar manner, Henderson (1935) provided a catalogue of North American species from Mesozoic and Cenozoic deposits. Wenz (1938–1944) and Zilch (1959–1960) published a systematic account of living and fossil non-marine Gastropoda together with geographic and stratigraphic information of all genera. Taylor (in Gray, 1988) listed and discussed the first appearances of higher taxa of freshwater molluscan groups. In a second work, he discussed the geographic distributions of certain groups in a palaeobiogeographic context (Taylor, 1988). Neubauer et al. (2014b) provided a systematically and taxonomically updated list of all Neogene species from Europe. On a smaller geographic and taxonomic scale, Salvador et al. (2018) reviewed the fossil record of Cretaceous to Neogene Hygrophila and Eupulmonata of South America. Haszprunar (2014, 2022), Neubauer (2016), and Neiber & Glaubrecht (2019a) produced nomenclators of all available fossil and recent genus and species names of Valvatidae, Melanopsidae, and Paludomidae, respectively. Recently, the global fossil record of Lymnaeidae was summarised by Neubauer (2023) along with an assessment of the family's diversity and geographic distribution through time.

Herein, I present the first complete survey of the world-wide fossil record of freshwater Gastropoda, from their roots in the late Palaeozoic to the Pleistocene, based on state-of-the-art systematic attributions and an account of diversity across space and time. Continental diversity through time is illustrated using palaeogeographic reconstructions. Further, I summarise and discuss freshwater colonisation events, compare these to patterns in land snails, and conclude with a broader discussion on the non-uniform distribution of diversity and its various causes.

II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

This review includes fossil-only freshwater taxa from the late Palaeozoic (Carboniferous) to the Quaternary (Pleistocene); extant species that have a fossil record are not included. Data derived from two sources. A large part is provided by the species occurrences collected in the course of recent publications (Neubauer et al., 2015b,c, 2021, 2022a,b), representing the most complete occurrence data sets for Europe and North America for the Mesozoic and Cenozoic. For all other species, data on taxonomy, distribution and fossil ages were gathered from the literature (original descriptions and revisions) and made available online via MolluscaBase (MolluscaBase eds, 2023). That database includes all known fossil non-marine species together with the latest published systematic position and taxonomic status. This second data set contains a largely complete set of fossil age ranges for the valid species as well as comprehensive distribution data, especially for southern hemisphere continents and Asia where the data mainly derive from type localities. Distributions are illustrated in the form of Biodiversity Information Standards (historically known as the Taxonomic Databases Working Group, TDWG) polygons (Brummitt, 2001). A major geographic bias is unlikely considering that most species are only known from their type localities or small geographic regions. This is both a function of the comparatively poor fossil record and the geographically restricted nature of freshwater bodies. Hence, although the data set may not provide exhaustive

distribution data for all taxa, the chosen polygon-based approach provides a good approximation of overall species distribution.

Data from the two sources were combined and filtered for freshwater representatives, following habitat assignments in MolluscaBase as well as the literature (e.g. Strong et al., 2008). Oligohaline species [inhabiting salinities up to 5‰ (Strydom, Whitfield & Wooldridge, 2003); e.g. including several species of Hydrobiidae] were included, while mesohaline taxa (5-18‰) were not. Largely amphibious to brackish-water groups such as Assimineidae, Ellobiidae, Potamididae, and most Truncatellidae were excluded, as were most Neritidae; only those genera with clear affinity to fresh water or oligohaline settings were included. Junior synonyms were matched with their valid names to update distribution and age records; similarly, subspecies were matched with their parent species. Uncertain names (nomina dubia and taxa inquirenda) were excluded from the analyses, while those that represent true species but are invalid or unavailable for nomenclatural reasons (e.g. unreplaced junior homonyms or taxa published in electronic format without fulfilling the requirements of the International Code of Zoological Nomenclature) were included. This enabled inclusion of 171 names published in a comprehensive monograph on Chinese Cenozoic faunas (Youluo, 1978) that is not available in the sense of the Code because no author is provided (Youluo means 'editorial group'; Haszprunar, 2022). Generally, this review provides an uncritical summary of the current knowledge: while several uncertainties are discussed, no revisions or taxonomic decisions are made. The list of included freshwater/oligohaline species in provided as online Supporting Information in Table S1.

Fossil ages were linked to the International Chronostratigraphic Chart (v. 2023-04; Cohen et al., 2013). The temporal units chosen for this review are the Epoch, for total and group diversity through time, and the Period, for large-scale reconstructions of palaeobiogeography. Distributions were matched to TDWG level-4 polygons, representing countries or higher administrative units of larger countries, to illustrate species richness per region. Islands smaller than 500 km² were excluded from the maps. Fifty-nine species lacked age information or were excluded because the available information was of too coarse a scale (i.e. age ranges exceeding the Period). For distributions, 53 species lacked information or their TDWG polygons were of low resolution, i.e. greater regions or large countries (level 3 or level 2). Data for the palaeogeographic reconstructions are derived from Kocsis & Scotese (2021). The attribution of polygons to continents follows the TDWG scheme (level-1 polygons; Brummitt, 2001), with the exception that the Caucasus region and East Aegean islands are attributed to Europe. Continent delimitation in the fossil record is based on the present-day political situation. In selected cases, this may not accurately reflect palaeogeography (e.g. in the case of the Indian subcontinent), but the generally low number of taxa from such regions does not introduce a serious bias. Data for

distributions and ages are provided in Tables S2 and S3 respectively.

The diversity data underlying the graph of colonisation events is based on a MolluscaBase query of all extant accepted gastropod species (MolluscaBase eds, 2023). Data were binned into three systematic levels following Bouchet *et al.* (2017) to assess the relative diversity of higher taxa. Fossil species were not considered in this particular analysis, since the fossil record of marine species in MolluscaBase is incomplete. Moreover, there are no higher level fossil-only clades that include non-marine gastropods.

All analyses and maps were generated in R v. 4.1.2 (R Core Team, 2021), using the packages *dplyr* v. 1.0.8 (Wickham *et al.*, 2022), *tidyverse* v. 1.3.1 (Wickham, 2022), *rgdal* v. 1.5-28 (Bivand, Keitt & Rowlingson, 2021), *sf* v. 1.0-6 (Pebesma, 2018), *sp* v. 1.4-6 (Bivand & Pebesma, 2013), *ggplot2* v. 3.3.5 (Wickham *et al.*, 2021), *smoothr* v. 0.2.2 (Strimas-Mackey, 2021), and *units* v. 0.8-0 (Pebesma, Mailund & Hiebert, 2016).

III. A GLOBAL REVIEW OF THE FOSSIL RECORD

The Carboniferous–Pleistocene global fossil record of freshwater/oligohaline Gastropoda contains 12 superfamilies, 44 families, 490 genera, and 5182 species (Fig. 1, Table 1). Inclusion of all subspecific ranks (subspecies, varieties, forms, and subvarieties) and unaccepted names (junior synonyms, homonyms, unjustified emendations, *taxa inquirenda*, and *nomina dubia*) increased this number to 6923. In addition, there are 38 *nomina nuda* in the data set.

Truncatelloidea are by far the most abundant group with 1906 species, followed by Lymnaeoidea (1142 species), Cerithioidea (900 species), Viviparoidea (600 species), and Neritoidea (241 species) (Fig. 1). Patterns in diversity across geological time for each superfamily are shown in Fig. S1. On the family level, Hydrobiidae (Truncatelloidea) are the dominant group (1102 species), followed by Viviparidae (Viviparoidea) (594 species), Planorbidae (Lymnaeoidea) (577 species), Melanopsidae (Cerithioidea) (394 species), and Lymnaeidae (Lymnaeoidea) (371 species) (Fig. 1, Table 1). Patterns in diversity across geological time for each family are shown in Fig. S2.

In the following, I discuss the fossil record of each stratigraphic period, from the Carboniferous to the Pleistocene, and use palaeogeographic maps and charts to illustrate species diversity across major systematic groups. I discuss the first occurrences of superfamilies and families (Table S4) and notable centres of diversity. The oldest stratigraphic records of families and superfamilies indicated herein must, however, be considered with caution. Despite the paucity of morphological characters associated with many freshwater shells, often coupled with poor preservation (especially for material from Mesozoic strata), many species were classified into modern genera and families in the past, even where placement in a superfamily was poorly supported. Moreover, many fossils have not been identified to the species level but were left in open nomenclature; because of their taxonomic uncertainty, these are not considered herein.

(1) The origin of freshwater gastropods: the Palaeozoic

(a) Carboniferous

Little is known about the roots of freshwater gastropods in the Palaeozoic (Fig. 2, Table S4). Occurrences are patchy, taxon attributions to genera and even higher systematic groups are problematic, and even their freshwater status is uncertain in several cases (Yen, 1949*a*; Solem & Yochelson, 1979; Taylor, 1988). Russell (1947) recorded a 'viviparid-like form' of gastropod from Devonian strata of Quebec, but the accompanying fauna of eurypterids and modiomorphid bivalves rather indicates a marine environment.

Four supposed freshwater species are known from the Carboniferous. From the early Carboniferous, three species attributed to Hydrobiidae (Visean stage), Pleuroceridae (probably Visean), and Viviparidae (stage uncertain) have been reported from Great Britain (Garwood, 1922; Cox, 1927; Yen, 1949*a*; Solem & Yochelson, 1979) (Fig. 3). A species classified in Melanopsidae was reported by Fischer von Waldheim (1837) from strata attributed today to the Myachkovian regional stage (Late Moscovian; Mirantsev & Rozhnov, 2012) of Moscow region. None of these family placements are reliable, but poor preservation and lack of features impedes revision. They are therefore not considered herein as true first occurrences.

(b) Permian

Only four species have been described from Permian strata (Figs 2 and 3). Ludwig (1861) reported two species placed in Viviparidae and Planorbidae from the early Permian (Kungurian) of eastern European Russia. An additional supposed viviparid was listed by Geinitz (1861) from Saxony in eastern Germany (probably early Permian following the stratigraphy of Löcse *et al.*, 2020). All three species were considered doubtful by Cox (1953). Further 'hydrobiid'-type taxa have been reported from the early Permian of Brazil (Runnegar & Newell, 1971; Solem & Yochelson, 1979).

Cox (1953) described a species classified in Hydrobiidae from the Karroo beds of Zimbabwe. Originally considered late Permian, the Lower Beaufort Group ['K5 subdivision (...), most probably the *Tapinocephalus* Zone'] Cox (1953, p. 201) attributed the finds to probably corresponds to the middle Permian following modern stratigraphic concepts (Lanci *et al.*, 2013; Day *et al.*, 2022). Finally, also from the Lower Beaufort Group, Rossouw (1970) reported a large, unidentified freshwater gastropod from South Africa. As for the Carboniferous taxa, none of the alleged systematic attributions of Permian taxa are here considered as first occurrences.



Fig. 1. Total species diversity of fossil freshwater/oligohaline gastropod superfamilies (inner pie chart: number of species – percentage) and families (outer donut chart). Superfamily systematic order follows Bouchet *et al.* (2017); families within each superfamily are ordered alphabetically.

(2) A slow but steady diversification: the Mesozoic

(a) Triassic

Global species diversity remained low throughout the Triassic and Jurassic (Figs 2 and 4). The earliest Mesozoic record of putative freshwater Gastropoda derives from the Early Triassic of China (Guo & Wei, 1984) (Figs 2 and 4). A single species from the Caiyuanzi (= Jiucaiyuan) Formation of Xinjiang is attributed to the genus *Hydrobia* (family Hydrobiidae). However, the small, smooth shell without diagnostic features precludes classification even to the family level. The uncertainty of this attribution is enhanced by the complete absence of any other freshwater gastropod from the Early or Middle Triassic. If correctly identified, this record could link late Palaeozoic finds attributed to Hydrobiidae (Cox, 1927, 1953; Solem & Yochelson, 1979) to Late Triassic occurrences.

Biological Reviews (2023) 000-000 © 2023 The Author. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

Table 1. Number of fossil freshwater/oligohaline species per gastropod family across geological time. See Fig. 1 for a graphical representation of these data. Superfamily systematic order follows Bouchet *et al.* (2017); families within each superfamily are ordered alphabetically. Four species of truncatelloids (genus *Avardaria*) are currently 'unassigned', and one genus (*Eocryphispira*) is entirely without placement (Gastropoda *incertae sedis*).

Superfamily	Family	Number of species
Helicinoidea	Neritiliidae	2
Neritoidea	Neritidae	241
Ampullarioidea	Ampullariidae	79
Viviparoidea	Pliopholygidae	6
Viviparoidea	Viviparidae	594
Truncatelloidea	Amnicolidae	100
Truncatelloidea	Bithyniidae	189
Truncatelloidea	Bythinellidae	43
Truncatelloidea	Cochliopidae	114
Truncatelloidea	Emmericiidae	47
Truncatelloidea	Fontigentidae	3
Truncatelloidea	Hydrobiidae	1102
Truncatelloidea	Iravadiidae	20
Truncatelloidea	Lithoglyphidae	75
Truncatelloidea	Mesocochliopidae	6
Truncatelloidea	Moitessieriidae	5
Truncatelloidea	Palaeobaicaliidae	11
Truncatelloidea	Pomatiopsidae	58
Truncatelloidea	Stenothyridae	95
Truncatelloidea	Tateidae	5
Truncatelloidea	Tomichiidae	1
Truncatelloidea	Truncatellidae	28
Truncatelloidea	'unassigned'	4
Cerithioidea	Amphimelaniidae	13
Cerithioidea	Hemisinidae	78
Cerithioidea	Melanopsidae	394
Cerithioidea	Pachychilidae	140
Cerithioidea	Paludomidae	41
Cerithioidea	Pleuroceridae	71
Cerithioidea	Semisulcospiridae	21
Cerithioidea	Thiaridae	141
Cerithioidea	Zemelanopsidae	1
Littorinoidea	Bohaispiridae	37
Valvatoidea	Provalvatidae	4
Valvatoidea	Valvatidae	261
Glacidorboidea	Glacidorbidae	1
Chilinoidea	Chilinidae	3
Chilinoidea	Latiidae	1
Lymnaeoidea	Acroloxidae	20
Lymnaeoidea	Bulinidae	31
Lymnaeoidea	Clivunellidae	4
Lymnaeoidea	Lymnaeidae	371
Lymnaeoidea	Physidae	139
Lymnaeoidea	Planorbidae	577
Succineoidea	Succineidae	4
Gastropoda incertae sedis		1
Total		5182

The Late Triassic witnesses the appearance of several groups in the fossil record (Table S4). Amnicolidae, Valvatidae, and Viviparidae appeared in North America (Yen, 1951*a*) and Valvatidae and Planorbidae in China



Fig. 2. Species diversity of freshwater/oligohaline gastropods across stratigraphic epochs. Question marks indicate records based on *taxa inquirenda*, some of which may constitute potential first occurrences of higher clades. Colours follow the International Chronostratigraphic Chart. For superfamilyand family-level charts see Figs S1 and S2 respectively. Carb., Carboniferous; Cretac., Cretaceous; Palaeog., Palaeogene; Neog., Neogene; Q., Quaternary.

(Guo, Yu & Pan, 1982; Guo & Wei, 1984). As for Hydrobiidae, the families Viviparidae and Planorbidae had been putatively documented from upper Palaeozoic strata (Ludwig, 1861; Garwood, 1922; Cox, 1927; see Section III.1.b). The extensive stratigraphic gap of several tens of millions of years between the Carboniferous/Permian [see Cox (1953) for a discussion of the Permian taxa recorded by Ludwig (1861)] and the Late Triassic strata casts doubt on the attributions of the Palaeozoic species or, alternatively, reflects the extremely poor early Mesozoic freshwater fossil record. Additional species attributed to Lymnaeidae, Physidae, Pomatiopsidae, and Thiaridae in open nomenclature have been reported from Upper Triassic deposits of India (Nath, 1999). Yet, the taxonomy is highly doubtful again; for the purpose of this revision, these latter species are not considered herein as true first occurrences.

(b) Jurassic

Species diversity remained low during the Jurassic, but several new groups evolved (Figs 2 and 4). The Early Jurassic saw the (putative) first occurrences of Lymnaeidae (USA),



Fig. 3. Late Palaeozoic species diversity of freshwater/oligohaline gastropods per continent. Inserts indicate the numbers of species per superfamily. For Figs 3–6, diversity data are scaled to the maximum record (Neogene of Europe; see Fig. 6). Only taxa identified to species level are considered. Asterisks indicate records that include *taxa inquirenda*, some of which may constitute potential first occurrences of higher clades (Table S4). Superscript 1 after a continent name signifies the first freshwater/oligohaline fossil record for that continent. Continent delimitation is based on the present-day situation. Palaeogeographic reconstructions were modified from Kocsis & Scotese (2021) and show the continental configurations for the late early Carboniferous (Serpukhovian, 325 Myr ago) and early Permian (Kungurian, 275 Myr ago). Land masses are in grey, continental margins (–1400 m) in blue. Projection: Mollweide.

Bithyniidae (China), Neritidae (China), and Pachychilidae (Germany, China) (Pan, 1977, 1982; Salvador & Yu, 2022; Neubauer, 2023) (Fig. S2, Table S4). Pomatiopsidae followed during the Middle Jurassic in Yunnan (Pan, 1977; but see discussion on potential Indian Triassic

representatives in Section III.2.*a*) (Fig. S2, Table S4). The fossil family Provalvatidae (Valvatoidea), the Physidae, and the Hemisinidae first appeared during the Late Jurassic (Huckriede, 1967; Bandel, 1991) (Fig. S2, Table S4). Jurassic species diversity is highest in Asia, followed by Europe and



Fig. 4. Triassic and Jurassic species diversity of freshwater gastropods per continent. Map data as for Fig. 3, showing the palaeogeographic reconstructions for the Late Triassic (Norian, 220 Myr ago) and the Middle Jurassic (Bajocian, 170 Myr ago).

North America; only a single species has been described from the southern hemisphere: the viviparid *Proviviparus talbragarensis* Frese & Ponder, 2021 from Australia (Frese & Ponder, 2021). Notable for their diversity are the Middle Jurassic faunas of Yunnan (China; Pan, 1977) and the Late Jurassic faunas of Lower Saxony (Germany; Huckriede, 1967) and the Morrison Formation in western North America (Branson, 1964; Evanoff, Good & Hanley, 1998; Yen, 1952*b*). The latter coincides with the formation of extensive wetlands following the retreat of a marine embayment that resulted in a first peak of freshwater gastropod species diversification in North America (Neubauer *et al.*, 2022*a*).

(c) Cretaceous

The number of species rose considerably over the Early Cretaceous, with the first appearance of numerous families:

Acroloxidae, Ampullariidae, Bulinidae, Cochliopidae, Melanopsidae, Pleuroceridae (?),Lithoglyphidae, Semisulcospiridae, Thiaridae, and the fossil-only families Mesocochliopidae, Palaeobaicaliidae, and Pliopholygidae (Russell, 1932; Delpey, 1940; Yen, 1951b; Martinson, 1957, 1982; Yü & Pan, 1980; Guo et al., 1982; Yu, 1987; Bandel, 1991) (Figs 2, 5, S1 and S2, Table S4). As for the Triassic first occurrences discussed in Section III.2.a, Pleuroceridae have been hypothesised to have Palaeozoic roots (Yen, 1949a). However, the stratigraphic gap involves more than 150 Myr, questioning the classification of the Palaeozoic species into that family. For lithoglyphids, a Jurassic origin was hypothesised based on molecular dating by Hausdorf, Röpstorf & Riedel (2003), but this suggestion has been disputed (Wilke, 2004). Also based on molecular clock dates, Neiber & Glaubrecht (2019b) suggested younger ages for Pleuroceridae (Late Cretaceous) and Semisulcospiridae (Eocene).

Rich faunas are known from Europe (Huckriede, 1967; Bandel, 1991), North America (Russell, 1932; Henderson, 1935; Yen, 1949b), and Asia (Martinson, 1961; Yu, 1987) (Fig. 5). The stratigraphically oldest records for South America (Parodiz, 1969; Salvador et al., 2018) are of Early Cretaceous age. The superfamilies Viviparoidea, Truncatelloidea, and Lymnaeoidea all diversified during the Early Cretaceous (Fig. S1). Cerithioids, by contrast, diversified particularly during the Late Cretaceous, with the first occurrences of Paludomidae (Sandberger, 1870-1875) in the Cenomanian and the truncatelloid family Tateidae (Parodiz, 1969) in the Maastrichtian (Fig. S2, Table S4). Given that the next oldest occurrence of the Tateidae is in the Middle Miocene

9

(Morton, 1986; Morton & Herbst, 2003) the supposed latest Cretaceous origin is possibly questionable. Despite fewer first occurrences at the family level or above, the Late Cretaceous was a period of species- and genus-level diversification (Fig. 2). Diverse faunas are known from North America (Yen, 1952a, 1954; Tozer, 1956; Perrilliat et al., 2008) and Asia (Martinson, 1961; Yü, 1977; Yü, Pan & Wang, 1982), and a peak in diversification noted for Europe (Mertin, 1939; Fabre-Taxy, 1951; Bandel & Riedel, 1994), likely related to global sea-level rise and the formation of extensive brackish-water habitats (Neubauer & (3) Unprecedented peaks of diversity: the Cenozoic Despite a major species turnover at the Cretaceous-Palaeogene (K-Pg) boundary (Neubauer et al., 2021), little changed in the Paleocene in terms of overall diversity (Fig. 2). Non-marine Iravadiidae (genus Stenothyrella; Kadolsky, 2022) and Truncatellidae (genus Nystia; Yü, 1977), as well as Bythinellidae (Cossmann, 1924; Glibert, 1973) and Stenothyridae (Yü, 1977) all appeared (Fig. S2, Table S4). A notable post-extinction fauna (of uncertain age) is documented from the border triangle constituted by Slovenia, Italy, and Croatia, i.e. the Liburnian freshwater fauna, which shows tremendous morphological and taxonomic diversity and a high degree of endemism (Stache, 1889). Rich Paleocene faunas have also been reported from the upper Willow Creek Formation (Tozer, 1956), the Ravenscrag Formation (Russell, 1974), Asia 5 21 64 25 22 72



Harzhauser, 2022).

(a) Palaeogene

Fig. 5. Cretaceous species diversity of freshwater gastropods per continent. Map data as for Fig. 3, showing the palaeogeographic reconstructions for the Late Cretaceous (Cenomanian, 95 Myr ago).

Biological Reviews (2023) 000-000 © 2023 The Author. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

the Paskapoo Formation (Russell, 1926; Tozer, 1956), the Green River Formation (Flagstaff Member; La Rocque, 1960), and the Fort Union Formation (Yen, 1948; Bickel, 1977; Hanley & Flores, 1987) in North America. A brackish–freshwater fauna is also known from the early Paleocene of Mons in Belgium (Glibert, 1973; Kowalke, 2002). The first freshwater elements appear in the Paris Basin (Pacaud, 2011; Leroy *et al.*, 2014), representing the beginning of an extensive fossil record of non-marine faunas that extends to the Early Miocene.

The Eocene saw a rise in global diversity (Fig. 2), with extensive diversification among Cerithioidea, Truncatelloidea, and Lymnaeoidea (Fig. S1), as well as the first occurrences of Bohaispiridae (Huang, 1983), Chilinidae (and the superfamily Chilinoidea; Parodiz, 1969), Emmericiidae (Pacaud, 2008), Moitessieriidae (Pacaud & Le Renard, 1995), and Neritiliidae (Symonds & Tracev, 2014) (Figs S1 and S2, Table S4). Important centres of diversity in Europe include the Paris Basin in France (Pacaud & Le Renard, 1995; Pacaud, 2008) and the London and Hampshire basins in England (Wenz, 1923-1930; Symonds, 2002; Munt, 2014). In North America, a diverse Eocene fauna was reported from the Kishenehn Basin in Montana and British Columbia (Pierce & Constenius, 2001, 2014). Numerous rich faunas have furthermore been documented from China, specifically from Anhui (Yü et al., 1982), Hebei (Yü & Pan, 1982), and Shandong (Youluo, 1978).

In the Oligocene, the family Zemelanopsidae, endemic to Zealandia, appeared in the fossil record (Neiber & Glaubrecht, 2019b) (Fig. S2, Table S4). In addition to the Paris Basin, noteworthy faunas are known from the Mainz Basin and Upper Rhine Graben in Germany (Wenz, 1923-1930; Gillet, 1953; Kadolsky, 1995), the widespread Upper Oligocene Formation du Gypse d'Aix (formerly known as 'ramondi beds') in the Alpine Foreland Basin (Wenz, 1923-1930), and the Cabbage Patch beds in Montana (Pierce, 1993). In China, several rich Oligocene assemblages have been documented from Hebei, Liaoning, Shandong, and Tianjin (Youluo, 1978), as well as the morphologically peculiar fauna of the Nanning Basin in Guangxi, featuring huge viviparids with extraordinarily thickened and armoured shells (Odhner, 1930; Ying, Fürsich & Schneider, 2013; Ying, Shaw & Schneider, 2018).

Across the entire Palaeogene, diversification was centred in Europe and Asia and to a lesser extent in North America (Fig. 6). African Ampullarioidea constitute a notable exception – compared to an otherwise poor African fossil record, this group diversified considerably during the Palaeogene (Mayer-Eymar, 1901; Jodot, 1953; Harzhauser *et al.*, 2017; Epa *et al.*, 2018).

(b) Neogene

The Miocene hosted the highest diversity among freshwater and oligohaline gastropods ever recorded (Fig. 2). The European fossil record alone includes 1969 species, accounting for 38.0% of all fossil species ever described globally (Fig. 6). A large part of that diversity is centred on long-lived lakes, such as Lake Pannon in the Late Miocene of central to south-eastern Europe (Harzhauser & Mandic, 2008; Magyar *et al.*, 2013; Neubauer *et al.*, 2016*c*) or the numerous lakes of the Early–Middle Miocene Dinaride Lake System on the Balkan Peninsula (Mandic *et al.*, 2009; Mandic, Harzhauser & Neubauer, 2020; De Leeuw *et al.*, 2011; Harzhauser *et al.*, 2012; Neubauer, Mandic & Harzhauser, 2016*d*; Neubauer *et al.*, 2020). A more detailed assessment of the importance of long-lived lakes in species diversification is provided in Section VI.

In contrast to Europe, species diversity in North America remained more similar to that during the Palaeogene, while it decreased in Asia (Fig. 6). South American diversity rose considerably, especially among Truncatelloidea. This peak can be almost exclusively attributed to diversification in a single ecosystem, the Miocene Pebas wetland (Nuttall, 1990; Wesselingh, 2006a,b). The African fossil record showed a similarly increased number of species, concentrated primarily in the northwest (Morocco and Algeria; Bourguignat, 1862; Pallary, 1901) and central Africa (Uganda, Democratic Republic of the Congo; Gautier, 1970; Gautier & Van Damme, 1973; Van Damme & Pickford, 1995, 1999, 2003; Musalizi, 2017). By contrast, only three species are known from the Miocene of Australia (McMichael, 1968; Marshall, 2011). Amphimelaniidae (Wenz, 1923-1930), Latiidae (Marshall, 2011), the fossil-only Clivunellidae, a family of limpet-like Lymnaeoidea (Kochansky-Devidé & Slišković, 1972; Harzhauser & Mandic, 2008), and aquatic Succineidae (genus Papyrotheca; Lörenthey, 1895) first appeared during the Miocene (Fig. S2, Table S4).

The Pliocene saw several centres of diversification for freshwater gastropods in Europe. Most prominent are the Dacian Basin in southern Romania, Lake Slavonia spanning north-eastern Croatia, western Serbia, and southern Hungary, as well as Lake Transylvania in the Brasov Basin in Romania (Jekelius, 1932; Jipa & Olariu, 2009; Andreescu et al., 2013; Mandic et al., 2015; Lazarev et al., 2020) including several hundreds of species and high degrees of endemism (Neubauer et al., 2015b,c, 2016c). The family Viviparidae particularly experienced numerous independent diversification events across different regions (e.g. Lubenescu & Zazuleac, 1985; Mandic et al., 2015) (Fig. S2). Pliocene centres of diversity in Asia are found in Turkey (Oppenheim, 1919; Taner, 1997) and Siberia (Popova, Devvatkin & Starobogatov, 1970). The oldest Fontigentidae are found in the Late Pliocene of Florida (Pilsbry, 1953) (Fig. S2, Table S4).

(c) Quaternary

The Pleistocene fossil record is a potpourri of species that are still living today (which are not considered herein), those in fading large Plio–Pleistocene freshwater systems, and a lower number of taxa that are stratigraphically confined to the Pleistocene. The majority of Pleistocene species diversity again derives from Europe. Most of the diverse freshwater



Fig. 6. Palaeogene and Neogene species diversity of freshwater gastropods per continent. Map data as for Fig. 3, showing the palaeogeographic reconstructions for the Eocene (Lutetian, 45 Myr ago) and the Miocene (Langhian, 15 Myr ago) respectively.

systems of the Pliocene, such as Lake Slavonia, Lake Dacia, and the fluvio-lacustrine systems in the Bresse Basin and the Aegean islands Kos and Rhodes, extend into the earliest Pleistocene (Willmann, 1981; Jipa & Olariu, 2009; Mandic *et al.*, 2015; Neubauer *et al.*, 2015*b*). Additionally, diverse freshwater faunas have been reported from the Pontocaspian region (Kolesnikov, 1950; Ali-Zade, 1969, 1973; Neubauer *et al.*, 2018; van de Velde *et al.*, 2020), Italy (Esu & Girotti, 1975, 2020; Petronio *et al.*, 2003), and Spain (Jodot, 1958; Madurga, 1973; Anadón, De Deckker & Julià, 1987; Robles, 1989). The available Asian fossil record is concentrated in western Asian countries (Turkey, eastern Caspian region and Near East; Ali-Zade, 1967; Rausch *et al.*, 2019; T.A. Neubauer & F.P. Wesselingh, unpublished data). Additional records come from China, Russia, India, Myanmar, and Indonesia (Annandale, 1919; Prashad, 1930;

Biological Reviews (2023) 000-000 © 2023 The Author. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

van Benthem Jutting, 1937; Popova, 1968; Li, 1988). North American Pleistocene faunas are very common and well studied (e.g. Russell, 1934; Leonard, 1957; Taylor, 1965; La Rocque, 1968), but no exceptionally diverse or endemic fauna is known. A few Pleistocene-only species are known from Africa, specifically from north-western Africa (Paladilhe, 1874; Pallary, 1901) and the African Rift Valley region (Charig, 1970; Van Damme & Pickford, 2003). None are recorded from South America, and only two from Australia, which at the same time represent the first appearances of the families Glacidorbidae (and thus the superfamily Glacidorboidea; Ponder & Avern, 2000) and Tomichiidae (Kendrick, 1978) in the fossil record (Figs S1 and S2, Table S4).

No fossil-only species are known for: (*i*) Acochlidimorpha, comprising 12 living freshwater species in the families Tantulidae and Acochlidiidae [although a Jurassic origin was suggested by Jörger *et al.* (2010, 2014) based on molecular clock dates]; (*ii*) the lymnaeoid family Burnupiidae, containing 22 extant species of the single genus *Burnupia* (molecular data indicate a Miocene age for the group; Sands *et al.*, 2022); (*iii*) the truncatelloid family Clenchiellidae, consisting today of four genera and 14 species (MolluscaBase eds, 2023). Until recently, the Helicostoidae would have been included in that list, containing the single enigmatic sessile (and probably recently extinct) species *Helicostoa sinensis*. Recent molecular analyses however found this species to be related to Bithyniidae and classified it in the subfamily Helicostoinae (Wilke *et al.*, 2023).

IV. COLONISATION OF FRESH WATER

Gastropods conquered freshwater habitats multiple times independently throughout Earth's history. Transitions happened in three out of the six extant subclasses of gastropods (Caenogastropoda, Heterobranchia, and Neritimorpha), but not in Vetigastropoda, Neomphaliones, and Patellogastropoda (Fig. 7). Most freshwater lineages descend from Caenogastropoda, compared to 5-6 each in Heterobranchia and Neritimorpha. Only considering extant species, the latest estimates indicate around 32-37 independent freshwater lineages distributed across multiple major clades (Strong et al., 2008; excluding the now redundant Helicostoidae, see Section III.3.c). The highest number of colonisation events is recorded for Truncatelloidea [part of the 'rissoiform clade' sensu Bouchet et al. (2017)], specifically for families Assimineidae (at least 2), Cochliopidae (at least 2), Pomatiopsidae (1-2), Stenothyridae (at least 1), Lithoglyphidae (at least 1), Moitessieriidae (at least 1), Bithyniidae (1), and Hydrobiidae (6-8?). Cerithioidea include 2-3 transitions to fresh water, Architaenioglossa probably 2, Littorinidae 1, Buccinidae 1, Marginellidae 1, Neritimorpha 5-6, Acochlidimorpha probably 2, Glacidorbidae 1, Valvatidae 1, and Hygrophila 1 (Strong et al., 2008; Fig. 7). Some of these invasions reflect the transition of only a single genus (Miller & Labandeira, 2002; Strong et al., 2008; Jörger et al., 2010).

Including the fossil record, the total number of colonisation events is probably much higher, but the exact number is difficult to assess, partly because of unresolved systematic relationships (Strong *et al.*, 2008), and partly because the type of environment (e.g. brackish *versus* freshwater) cannot always be unambiguously determined in the sedimentary record. Moreover, shells retrieved from freshwater strata do not necessarily belong to species that lived in freshwater conditions but may have been transported from elsewhere, as is frequently the case for terrestrial snails (e.g. Harzhauser *et al.*, 2014; Höltke & Rasser, 2017).

Following current systematic attributions, additional probable colonisations of freshwater environments are indicated for species of Ellobiida in the Early Cretaceous of Japan (Isaji, 2010) and the Late Jurassic–Early Cretaceous of Europe (Purbeck beds; Dayrat *et al.*, 2011). Moreover, several fossil-only families exist in higher clades that contain both marine and freshwater taxa, such as Bohaispiridae (Littorinoidea), Mesocochliopidae, Palaeobaicaliidae (both Truncatelloidea), and Provalvatidae (Valvatoidea). It is unknown whether they represent distinct colonisation events or branches of other clades that entered freshwater ecosystems earlier.

Yen (1952b) introduced the new genus *Linnopsis* for a Jurassic freshwater taxon and classified it in Otinidae, an otherwise marine, coastal group. Because of differences in shell morphology, the otherwise virtually absent fossil record of Otinidae and the ecological discrepancy, Dayrat *et al.* (2011) doubted that assignment; a taxonomic revision is still pending.

The fossil record probably saw numerous independent transitions within single families, especially among those with broader ecological ranges. A prime candidate is the family Melanopsidae, which derives from brackish-water ancestors in the Cretaceous and since then has diversified taxonomically, morphologically, and ecologically (Glaubrecht, 1996; Bandel, 2000; Geary et al., 2012; Neubauer et al., 2013, 2016b; Neubauer, 2016). While melanopsids were mainly restricted to marginally marine to brackish-water environments during the Cretaceous and Palaeogene, Neogene representatives probably invaded freshwater ecosystems in several independent events. Putative transitions to fresh water include the colonisation of the Early-Middle Miocene Dinaride Lake System in Croatia and Bosnia and Herzegovina, the Pliocene Lake Slavonia, which derived from brackish Lake Pannon, or the Late Miocene-Early Pleistocene Dacian Basin fauna, which experienced a transition from brackish to fresh water in the Pliocene (Jipa & Olariu, 2009; Mandic et al., 2015; Neubauer et al., 2016c). Especially from the Pliocene onwards, melanopsid species are mainly found in freshwater ecosystems (Glaubrecht, 1996; Neubauer et al., 2016b; Neiber & Glaubrecht, 2019b).

The same may be true for Hydrobiidae, which are also found in the abovementioned faunas. Considering their obvious affinity to freshwater colonisation as evident from extant



Fig. 7. Non-marine colonisation events among Gastropoda. Transitions to fresh water are indicated in blue, those to land in red; marine–brackish transitions are not considered here. Number of colonisations follows Vermeij & Dudley (2000), Kano *et al.* (2002), Strong *et al.* (2008), and Dayrat *et al.* (2011), with updates based on this review. Relative diversity of higher clades according to MolluscaBase (extant species only); systematics following Bouchet *et al.* (2017). Ac., Acochlidimorpha; Atg., Architaenioglossa; Cyclon., Cycloneritida; Eo., Euopisthobranchia; Eu., other Euthyneura (taxa of uncertain position); Hygro., Hygrophila; Lepet., Lepetellida; LoHe., 'Lower Heterobranchia'; Ne., Neomphaliones; Nm., Neritimorpha; Nud., Nudibranchia; Pb., Pleurobranchida; Pg., Patellogastropoda; Pl., Pleurotomariida; Pp., other Panpulmonata (Sacoglossa, Siphonarimorpha); Pylop., Pylopulmonata; Ri., Ringiculida; Rissoif., rissoiform; Seguenz., Seguenziida; Sorbeoc. div., remaining Sorbeoconcha; Systell., Systellommatophora; Tr., Trochida; Vg., Vetigastropoda.

lineages (Strong *et al.*, 2008), it is likely that there were several (if not numerous) independent transitions to fresh water in that family in the geological past.

Figure 7 includes only transitions to fresh water. Examples of notable brackish clades that may have marine ancestors include one (or a few) genera in Truncatellidae (Kadolsky, 1993; Kadolsky & Morton, 2022) and Iravadiidae (Lozouet, 2003; Kadolsky, 2022).

Current knowledge suggests that all mollusc colonisations of freshwater habitats took place from the marine realm. Two pathways are conceivable: colonisation may take place either *via* deltas with brackish embayments or lagoons, where

a river discharges behind a barrier and thus creates a gradual transition from marine to freshwater conditions, or more directly *via* estuaries, where the transition occurs within the tidally influenced part of the river. One exception to the pattern of marine-derived colonisations is the enigmatic genus *Papyrotheca*, which may have originated from a terrestrial Succineidae (Stylommatophora) ancestor in the Late Miocene brackish Lake Pannon, although this taxon is not known from true freshwater ecosystems (Vermeij & Dudley, 2000; Harzhauser & Mandic, 2008; Harzhauser & Neubauer, 2021). Earlier works hypothesised a transition from terrestrial to fresh water for the superorder Hygrophila (pulmonate gastropods; Miller & Labandeira, 2002), but ancestral state reconstructions suggest a single marine to freshwater transition at the base of Hygrophila (Klussmann-Kolb *et al.*, 2008).

V. GASTROPODS ON LAND

Gastropods have played an important role in freshwater ecosystems in Earth history, especially in the late Mesozoic and Cenozoic. However, today freshwater gastropods, at 5260 species, account for only 15.6% of non-marine gastropod diversity, compared to the extraordinarily high diversity of ~28,400 species (84.4%) of terrestrial snails (MolluscaBase eds, 2023). The fossil record of land snails is rather poor and includes only 2280 species in total (i.e. less than half the number of fossil freshwater gastropod species; MolluscaBase eds, 2023).

Gastropods on land have a similarly long fossil record as freshwater gastropods. The oldest fossils of land snails date back to the late Carboniferous (Solem & Yochelson, 1979). Earlier records are all systematically or stratigraphically doubtful or have been proved incorrect (Solem & Yochelson, 1979). The late Palaeozoic inventory of land snails contains 11 species (13 when including *taxa inquirenda*), and thus is as sparse as that for freshwater gastropods. Following current systematics, these early representatives probably all belong to Stylommatophora (Jochum, Yu & Neubauer, 2020).

No Triassic land snails are known, and for the Jurassic there are only patchy records of Stylommatophora as well as the first Cyclophoroidea (Bandel, 1991; Jochum *et al.*, 2020). Species diversification accelerated especially in the Late Cretaceous (Matheron, 1843; Oppenheim, 1895; Wenz, 1940; Hrubesch, 1965; Balashov, 2021; Bichain *et al.*, 2022). As for freshwater gastropods, diversity in the Cenozoic increased considerably towards the Miocene, but experienced a strong decline at the Pliocene–Pleistocene boundary (Harzhauser & Neubauer, 2021).

There were probably 13–14 independent colonisation events for land snails, which is much lower than for their freshwater counterparts (Fig. 7). In Caenogastropoda this includes 1 in Architaenioglossa (Cyclophoroidea) in the Late Jurassic, at least 1 in the sorbeoconch superfamily Littorinoidea (Annulariidae, Pomatiidae) in the Late Cretaceous (Nicolas, 1898; Fabre-Taxy, 1959; Hrubesch, 1965), and at least 4 independent events in the truncatelloid family Truncatellidae (Vermeij & Dudley, 2000). Among Neritimorpha there was at least one event in Hydrocenoidea and 1–2 in Helicinoidea (Kano, Chiba & Kase, 2002). Marine–land transitions in Heterobranchia include at least 2 events in Ellobiida (Carychiinae and one genus of Pythiinae; not considering amphibious species), 2 in Systellommatophora (Veronicellidae and one genus in Onchidiidae) and probably a single event at the base of Stylommatophora (Dayrat *et al.*, 2011). That single basal event in Stylommatophora has led to the \sim 22,400 extant species of land snails (\sim 79% of total terrestrial snail species diversity), making this particular transition probably the most successful colonisation event among Gastropoda.

The comparatively low diversity of terrestrial gastropods in Earth history and the low number of colonisation events known to date are to some extent the result of a major preservation bias. As stated above, fossil terrestrial snails are frequently retrieved from freshwater strata (e.g. Harzhauser *et al.*, 2014; Höltke & Rasser, 2017), which have a higher preservation potential than their autochthonous terrestrial habitat. One exception is formed by rich but rare amber deposits, such as Burmese amber (Balashov, 2021; Bichain *et al.*, 2022).

VI. THE UNEVEN DISTRIBUTION OF DIVERSITY

Species diversity is unevenly distributed across space and time. By far the largest number of fossil freshwater gastropod species - 3078, representing 59.4% of the global fossil record – have been described from Europe (Fig. 8). A large number of these were described from long-lived lakes, which were particularly widespread in the European Neogene (Harzhauser & Mandic, 2008; Neubauer et al., 2015b,c, 2016c; Neubauer & Georgopoulou, 2021). Asia follows with 1268 species, reflecting the diverse Mesozoic and Cenozoic lake systems particularly in China, Siberia, and Mongolia (Martinson, 1961, 1982; Pan, 1977; Youluo, 1978; Kolesnikov, 1980), compared to a relatively poor record in tropical Asia. The North American fossil record yielded 507 species, mainly from the west to mid-west USA and southern Canada (Henderson, 1935; Neubauer et al., 2022a). The continents of the southern hemisphere are comparatively poor in fossil freshwater gastropods (Fig. 8). One hundred seventy nine species are known from South America, mostly from the Neogene Pebas wetlands in Peru, Colombia, and NW Brazil (Wesselingh et al., 2002; Wesselingh, 2006a,b), 140 from Africa, with a centre of diversity in the African rift valley (e.g. Gautier & Van Damme, 1973; Van Damme & Pickford, 1994; Musalizi, 2017), and only 17 from Australia and New Zealand. The only fossil freshwater gastropod recorded from Antarctica is an unidentified lymnaeid fragment from the (supposedly) Pliocene Meyer Desert Formation (Ashworth & Preece, 2003).



Fig. 8. Species diversity of the global fossil record of freshwater/oligohaline Gastropoda per Taxonomic Databases Working Group (TDWG) level-4 polygon, illustrating the uneven geographic distribution of diversity. Polygons largely match countries or, in the case of larger nations, higher administrative units or states (Brummitt, 2001). Species diversity was log₁₀-transformed to minimise the impact of exceptionally diverse regions (e.g. France). Islands smaller than 500 km² were omitted. Note that the apparent absence of a fossil record in certain polygons (grey) does not necessarily mean that there are no fossil freshwater gastropods in these regions but may reflect the incompleteness of the available distribution records (see Section VI) or records in open nomenclature. Some distributions are only available at a lower resolution (TDWG level-2/3 polygons). Projection: Behrmann.

The non-uniform distribution of freshwater gastropod diversity has various causes, including both drivers of diversification (see below) and biases due to preservation, sampling, and research focus and history. As a general rule, older sedimentary strata form a smaller portion of the rock record (Holland, 2016). In the case of freshwater molluscs, ecological restrictions to lakes, rivers or wetlands further constrains their possibility of preservation. Here, the available rock record is linked to the formation of intracratonic or epicontinental sedimentary basins and the associated freshwater deposits and their erosion, causing non-uniform preservation likelihood through space and time (Cohen, 2003; Holland, 2016). Lakes often have a long-term and rich sedimentary archive (e.g. Gierlowski-Kordesch & Kelts, 1994, 2000; Cohen, 2003; Mandic et al., 2009). The preservational bias particularly favours lacustrine sediments in stable, tectonic basins (Cohen, 2003). Europe has accommodated numerous long-lived lakes in the geological past (Harzhauser & Mandic, 2008; Neubauer et al., 2015b,c; Neubauer & Georgopoulou, 2021). Other continents harboured fewer of these sedimentary archives, e.g. the Pebas wetland (Wesselingh, 2006a, 2007), Lake T'oo'dichi' in North America (Turner & Fishman, 1991; Neubauer et al., 2022a), Lake Nanning in China (Ying et al., 2018), and Lake Turkana in eastern Africa (Wesselingh, 2007; Van Bocxlaer, Van Damme & Feibel, 2008). In contrast to lakes, rivers have a comparatively poor preservation potential due to their high hydrodynamic energy (Holland, 2016) resulting in the fragmentation, abrasion, disarticulation or

complete obliteration of freshwater mollusc shells (Nielsen, Helama & Nielsen, 2008). In addition, waters in many rivers and streams, as well as some ponds or lakes, are undersaturated in dissolved carbonate. As a result, carbonate is rapidly leached from shells after death, or earlier if the periostracum is damaged (Nielsen *et al.*, 2008; Araujo *et al.*, 2017). It is such streams that provide key hotspots for mollusc diversity today, with notable examples including the Lower Mekong River in South-east Asia, the Mobile River Basin in the southern USA, and the Congo in central Africa (Taylor, 1988; Strong *et al.*, 2008; Johnson *et al.*, 2013; Sor *et al.*, 2020). Moreover, as discussed in Section IV, rivers probably represented gateways for the colonisation of freshwater ecosystems.

A second factor is uneven research history across continents. Europe has the longest and most intense research history, with hundreds of publications dealing with fossil nonmarine Mollusca (Wenz, 1923-1930; Harzhauser & Mandic, 2008; Neubauer et al., 2015a,b,c; Neubauer, 2023). European naturalists started describing fossil freshwater gastropods in the 18th century (Brander, 1766). By the mid-19th century numerous species and faunas had been described, while in North America research on fossil freshwater gastropods was much slower to commence. Studies on other continents are largely restricted to the 20th and 21st century. This historical bias may explain to some extent the comparatively low recorded diversities in Africa, South America, Australia, and large parts of Asia. This bias may be enhanced by limited accessibility and patchy geological exploration across large parts of these continents.

Diversification is governed by a complex interaction of biotic and abiotic, extrinsic and intrinsic factors that act on different spatial, temporal, and ecological scales (e.g. Rabosky, 2013; Silvestro *et al.*, 2015; Ezard & Purvis, 2016; Jezkova & Wiens, 2017; Lehtonen *et al.*, 2017; Bush & Payne, 2021; Rabosky & Benson, 2021; Neubauer *et al.*, 2022*b*). The diversification history of freshwater gastropods is linked to tectonics, continental palaeogeography, and large-scale climatic developments, which control the availability and persistence of freshwater ecosystems across space and time (Neubauer *et al.*, 2015*b,c*, 2022*a,b*; Neubauer & Harzhauser, 2022).

Of particular relevance for the diversification history of freshwater gastropods is the formation of long-lived (ancient) lakes. In addition to their role as sedimentary archives, these ecosystems represent islands of evolution. Both in the fossil record and today, their extended temporal persistence has allowed freshwater biota to evolve extraordinary levels of taxonomic, phylogenetic, and phenotypic diversity (Michel, 1994; Martens, 1997; von Rintelen, Bouchet & Glaubrecht, 2007; Wesselingh, 2007; Albrecht & Wilke, 2008; Harzhauser & Mandic, 2008; Neubauer et al., 2015b,c, 2016c; Hampton et al., 2018; Neubauer & Georgopoulou, 2021). Long-lived lakes form the foundation for intralacustrine adaptive radiations, shown by numerous examples across continents, stratigraphic intervals, and taxa (Michel, 1994; Schön & Martens, 2004; von Rintelen et al., 2004; Neubauer et al., 2013; Salzburger, Van Bocxlaer & Cohen, 2014; Van Bocxlaer et al., 2020). These cradles of evolution have delivered the majority of all known fossil freshwater gastropods globally. For example, 579 species have been recorded from a single system, Lake Pannon (Neubauer et al., 2016c), accounting for 11.2% of all fossil freshwater gastropod species. Apart from the sometimes astounding levels of species diversity, the most extraordinary cases of shape and size evolution in freshwater gastropods derive from long-lived lakes. Notable examples include: (i) the huge, limpet-shaped lymnaeids of the subfamily Valencienniinae, which evolved in the Late Miocene in Lake Pannon from small ancestors of the genus Radix (Gorjanović-Kramberger, 1923; Taktakishvili, 1967; Neubauer *et al.*, 2016*a*; Neubauer, 2023); (*ii*) the Middle Miocene Gyraulus species flock in the Steinheim Basin (Hilgendorf, 1867; Mensink, 1984; Rasser, 2013); (iii) the Plio-Pleistocene Viviparus species flock in Lake Slavonia (Neumayr & Paul, 1875); (iv) the middle Miocene to Pliocene 'Kosovia'-Popovicia lineage (Bulinidae) in Serbia and Kosovo, showing the step-wise evolution of sculptured sinistral Bulinus to pseudodextral, planorbiform morphologies (Atanacković, 1959; Popović, 1964; Milošević, 1970; Neubauer et al., 2017); and (v) the cochliopid radiation in the Miocene Pebas wetland in South America (Wesselingh, 2006a,b; Wesselingh & Renema, 2009).

The non-uniform spatial distribution of freshwater gastropod diversity, paired with the underlying causes of ecosystem formation and demise as a result of interacting geodynamic and climatic processes, shows the importance of one overarching driver: ecological opportunity. This term is typically used in the context of adaptive radiation and commonly relates to niche and resource availability as a basis for diversification (Schluter, 2000; Wellborn & Langerhans, 2015; Wilke *et al.*, 2020). In this context, the concept usually refers to a single clade or ecosystem. In a deep-time, global context, it can be expanded towards general habitat availability (and stability) as the required prerequisite for diversification on large spatial and temporal scales. To avoid confusion with the original use of ecological opportunity, I propose a new, slightly altered term: scaleindependent ecological opportunity. This combines all abiotic and biotic conditions that lead to the ecological requirements facilitating diversification of a given clade. In the case of freshwater gastropods, this may involve the formation of stable, long-lived freshwater ecosystems.

Scale-independent ecological opportunity is not limited to freshwater clades, but can be applied to any animal and plant taxon and across continents and geological time intervals. However, given the isolated nature of freshwater habitats and lakes in particular, scale-independent ecological opportunity may have a more profound impact on diversification patterns in freshwater organisms, at least across large spatio-temporal scales. Comparable patterns may be expected for similarly isolated ecosystems, such as islands (Whittaker & Fernández-Palacios, 2007; Losos & Ricklefs, 2009) or mountain tops (Hoorn *et al.*, 2013; Zizka & Antonelli, 2018).

VII. CONCLUSIONS

(1) The global fossil record of freshwater/oligohaline Gastropoda includes 5182 species in 490 genera, 44 families, and 12 superfamilies and spans \sim 340 million years (Carboniferous–Pleistocene). The most abundant group is the superfamily Truncatelloidea with 1906 species (with the family Hydrobiidae comprising 1102 species), followed by Lymnaeoidea (1142 species), Cerithioidea (900 species), Viviparoidea (600 species), and Neritoidea (241 species).

(2) The earliest fossil record in the late Palaeozoic is patchy at best and consists of only a few species. A slightly more diversified and wider distributed record is found for the Triassic and Jurassic, but, as for Palaeozoic taxa, many of the systematic attributions are doubtful. This especially concerns the putative first occurrences of higher clades. This review summarises those early questionable cases, which will need to be studied further to improve our understanding of freshwater gastropod evolution. Several clades originated in the Early Cretaceous, leading to increased diversity. An alltime species diversity peak is reached in the Neogene, coinciding with the development of numerous long-lived lakes and biodiversity hotspots at that time.

(3) Colonisation of freshwater ecosystems from marine ancestors occurred multiple times independently in the geological past. Summarising all known and putative transitions to fresh water, at least 32 independent colonisation events across 20 clades are known. Considering the uncertain systematic classifications of some of the fossil families as well as the more euryoecious groups (such as Melanopsidae and Hydrobiidae), the actual number is probably higher. However, the current estimate exceeds the 13–14 transitions (in 9 clades) to land. While terrestrial gastropods are more than five times as diverse as their freshwater counterparts, the majority of all land snails derive from a single colonisation event at the base of Stylommatophora.

(4) The distribution of fossil faunas and species diversity is uneven and biased towards northern hemisphere continents. Two-thirds of all fossil species have been described from Europe. On the one hand, this uneven distribution relates to the higher number of long-lived lake faunas, which were particularly common in Europe and which have both high diversity and a better preservation potential. On the other hand, the known distribution may partly be an artifact of a longer and more intense research history in the global north. (5) Across large spatio-temporal scales, diversification of freshwater gastropods is strongly influenced by the availability of suitable ecosystems that provide stability over extended geological periods, which in turn depends on tectonics and climate. Prime examples are long-lived lakes, which have provided ideal conditions for the taxonomic, phylogenetic, and morphological evolution of gastropods and thus yielded unique biodiversity hotspots. A new term is introduced here to summarise the abiotic and biotic conditions that lead to the ecological requirements facilitating diversification: scale-independent ecological opportunity.

VIII. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am grateful to Mathias Harzhauser for numerous fruitful discussions and comments on gastropod taxonomy, systematics, evolution, ecology, and biogeography, as well as a review of an earlier version of this paper; to Ádám Kocsis for providing shapefiles for palaeogeographic reconstructions; to Oleg Mandic and Simon Schneider for sharing thoughts on diversity trends in non-marine fossil molluscs; to Julia C. Friedel for details on Carboniferous stratigraphy; to Joaquín Albesa, Vitaliy V. Anistratenko, Wolfgang Brunnbauer, Sebastian Calzada, Chen Zheyu, Daniela Esu, Joachim Gründel, Gerhard Haszprunar, Sonja Herzog-Gutsch, Olaf Höltke, Nadežda Krstić, Arie W. Janssen, Ronald Janssen, Arzu Javadova, Rodica Macalet, Imre Magyar, Eike Neubert, Jean-Michel Pacaud, Barna Páll-Gergely, Sophie Passot, Valentin A. Prysjazhnjuk, Simon Schneider, Davit Vasilyan, Maxim Vinarski, Tingting Yu, and colleagues at the Naturalis Biodiversity Center library for assistance with literature research; and to the data management team of Mollusca-Base/WoRMS for realising my many requests with enormous speed and accuracy. Finally, I am grateful for the constructive comments of Simon Schneider and an anonymous reviewer. The Assistant Editor Alison Cooper kindly polished the English. Much of the database work that contributed to this article was carried out in the course of projects funded by the Austrian Science Fund (FWF project no. P25365-B25), the German Research Foundation (DFG project no. NE 2268/2-1), the Alexander von Humboldt Foundation (Humboldt research fellowship for postdoctoral researchers), and the Justus Liebig University Giessen (Just'us fellowship). Open Access funding enabled and organized by Projekt DEAL.

IX. DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All data are provided as online Supporting Information.

X. REFERENCES

- ALBRECHT, C. & WILKE, T. (2008). Ancient Lake Ohrid: biodiversity and evolution. *Hydrobiologia* **615**, 103–140.
- ALI-ZADE, A. A. (1967). Akchagyl Turkmenistana. T.2. Izdatel'stvo 'Nedra', Moskva.
 ALI-ZADE, A. A. (1969). Akchagyl Azerbaidzhana 'Nedra', Leningradskoe otdelenie, Leningrad.
- ALI-ZADE, A. A. (1973). Apsheron Azerbaydzhana. Izdatel'stvo 'Nedra', Moskva.
- ANADÓN, P., DE DECKKER, P. & JULIÀ, R. (1987). The Pleistocene lake deposits of the NE Baza basin (Spain): salinity variations and ostracod succession. *Hydrobiologia* 14, 199–208.
- ANDREESCU, I., CODREA, V., LUBENESCU, V., MUNTEANU, T., PETCULESCU, A., STIUCA, E. & TERZEA, E. (2013). New developments in the Upper Pliocene-Pleistocene stratigraphic units of the Dacian Basin (Eastern Paratethys), Romania. *Quaternary International* 284, 15–29.
- ANNANDALE, N. (1919). The gastropod Fauna of old Lake-beds in Upper Burma. Records of the Geological Survey of India 50, 209–240.
- ARAUJO, R., SCHNEIDER, S., ROE, K. J., ERPENBECK, D. & MACHORDOM, A. (2017). The origin and phylogeny of Margaritiferidae (Bivalvia, Unionoida): a synthesis of molecular and fossil data. *Zoologica Scripta* **46**, 289–307.
- ASHWORTH, A. C. & PREECE, R. C. (2003). The first freshwater molluscs from Antarctica. *Journal of Molluscan Studies* **69**, 89–92.
- ATANACKOVIĆ, M. (1959). Pliocène du Bassin de Kosovo (Serbie méridionale) [in Serbian]. Geološki glasnik 3, 257–377.
- BALASHOV, I. A. (2021). An inventory of molluscs recorded from mid-cretaceous Burmese amber, with the description of a land snail, *Euthema annae* sp. nov. (Caenogastropoda, Cyclophoroidea, Diplommatinidae). *Cretaceous Research* 118, 104676.
- BANDEL, K. (1991). Gastropods from brackish and fresh water of the Jurassic– Cretaceous transition (a systematic reevaluation). *Berliner geowissenschaftliche Abhandlungen*, A 134, 9–55.
- BANDEL, K. (2000). Speciation among the Melanopsidae (Caenogastropoda). Special emphasis to the Melanopsidae of the Pannonian Lake at Pontian time (Late Miocene) and the Pleistocene and recent of Jordan. Mitteilungen aus dem Geologisch-Paläontologischen Institut der Universität Hamburg 84, 131–208.
- BANDEL, K. & RIEDEL, F. (1994). The late Cretaceous gastropod fauna from Ajka (Bakony Mountains, Hungary): a revision. Annalen des Naturhistorischen Museums in Wien, Serie A 96, 1–65.
- BICHAIN, J.-M., JOCHUM, A., POUILLON, J.-M. & NEUBAUER, T. A. (2022). Archaeocyclotus brevivillosus sp. nov., a new cyclophorid land snail (Gastropoda: Cyclophoroidea) from mid-Cretaceous Burmese amber. Cretaceous Research 140, 105359.
- BICKEL, D. (1977). A new genus and species of freshwater gastropod from the Paleocene Tongue River formation of North Dakota. *Journal of Paleontology* 54, 123–130.
- BIVAND, R., KEITT, T. & ROWLINGSON, B. (2021). rgdal: Bindings for the 'Geospatial' Data Abstraction Library. R package version 1.5–28. Electronic file available at https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/rgdal/index.html. Accessed 1.2.2022.
- BIVAND, R. S. & PEBESMA, E. J. (2013). Applied Spatial Data Analysis with R, Second Edition. Springer, New York.
- BOUCHET, P., BARY, S., HÉROS, V. & MARANI, G. (2016). How many species of molluses are there in the world's oceans, and who is going to describe them? In *Tropical Deep-Sea Benthos* 29 (eds V. HÉROS, E. STRONG and P. BOUCHET), pp. 9–24. Muséum national d'histoire naturelle, Paris.

- BOUCHET, P., ROCROI, J.-P., HAUSDORF, B., KAIM, A., KANO, Y., NÜTZEL, A., PARKHAEV, P., SCHRÖDL, M. & STRONG, E. E. (2017). Revised classification, nomenclator and typification of gastropod and monoplacophoran families. *Malacologia* 61, 1–526.
- BOURGUIGNAT, J. R. (1862). Paléontologie des mollusques terrestres et fluviatiles de l'Algérie. Baillière et fils, Paris.
- BRANDER, G. (1766). Fossilia Hantoniensia collecta, et in Musaeo Britannico deposita. Privately published, London.
- BRANSON, C. C. (1964). Morrison fresh-water Fauna in Wyoming. Oklahoma Geology Notes 24, 238–243.
- BRUMMITT, R. K. (2001). World Geographic Scheme for Recording Plant Distributions, Edition 2. Hunt Institute for Botanical Documentation. Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh.
- BUSH, A. M. & PAYNE, J. L. (2021). Biotic and abiotic controls on the Phanerozoic history of marine animal biodiversity. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* 52, 269–289.
- CHARIG, A. (1970). New names for two species of Viviparus. Annales du Musée Royal de l'Afrique Centrale, Série in 8 Sciences Géologiques 67, 79–80.
- COHEN, A. S. (2003). Paleolimnology: The History and Evolution of Lake Systems. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- COHEN, K. M., FINNEY, S. C., GIBBARD, P. L. & FAN, J.-X. (2013). The ICS international Chronostratigraphic Chart. *Episodes* **36**, 199–204.
- COSSMANN, M. (1924). Revision des Scaphopodes, Gastropodes et Céphalopodes du Montien de Belgique. Deuxième partie. Mémoires du Musée royal d'histoire naturelle de Belgique 34, 1–35.
- Cox, L. R. (1927). Bernicia praecursor gen. & sp. nov., a lower carboniferous freshwater gastropod. Geological Magazine 64, 326–328.
- Cox, L. R. (1953). Gastropoda from the Karroo beds of Southern Rhodesia. Geological Magazine 90, 201–207.
- DARWALL, W., BREMERICH, V., DE WEVER, A., DELL, A. I., FREYHOF, J., GESSNER, M. O., GROSSART, H.-P., HARRISON, I., IRVIN, K., JÄHNIG, S. C., JESCHKE, J. M., LEE, J. J., LU, C., LEWANDOWSKA, A. M., MONAGHAN, M. T., *ET AL.* (2020). The Alliance for freshwater life: a global call to unite efforts for freshwater biodiversity science and conservation. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems* 28, 1015–1022.
- DAY, M. O., RAMEZANI, J., FRAZER, R. E. & RUBIDGE, B. S. (2022). U-Pb zircon age constraints on the vertebrate assemblages and palaeomagnetic record of the Guadalupian Abrahamskraal Formation, Karoo Basin, South Africa. *Journal of African Earth Sciences* 186, 104435.
- DAYRAT, B., CONRAD, M., BALAYAN, S., WHITE, T. R., ALBRECHT, C., GOLDING, R., GOMES, S. R., HARASEWYCH, M. G. & DE FRIAS MARTINS, A. M. (2011). Phylogenetic relationships and evolution of pulmonate gastropods (Mollusca): new insights from increased taxon sampling. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* **59**, 425–437.
- DE LEEUW, A., MANDIC, O., KRIJGSMAN, W., KUIPER, K. & HRVATOVIĆ, H. (2011). A chronostratigraphy for the Dinaride Lake System deposits of the Livno-Tomislavgrad Basin: the rise and fall of a long-lived lacustrine environment. *Stratigraphy* **8**, 29–43.
- DELPEY, G. (1940). Les gastéropodes mésozoïques de la région libanaise. Haut Commissariat de la République française en Syrie et au Liban, Service des travaux publics, Section d'études géologiques – Notes et mémoires 3, 5–292.
- DMITRIEV, V. Y. & NEVESSKAJA, L. A. (2006). Taxonomic diversification of normalmarine bivalve mollusks in the Phanerozoic. *Paleontological Journal* 40, 253–260.
- EEA (EUROPEAN ENVIRONMENT AGENCY) (2019). The European Environment State and Outlook 2020. Knowledge for Transition to a Sustainable Europe. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.
- EPA, Y. R., STIGALL, A. L., ROBERTS, E. M., O'BRIAN, H. D. & STEVENS, N. J. (2018). Morphological diversification of ampullariid gastropods (Nsungwe formation, late Oligocene, Rukwa Rift Basin, Tanzania) is coincident with onset of East African rifting. *Papers in Palaeontology* 4, 327–348.
- ESU, D. & GIROTTI, O. (1975). La malacofauna continentale del Plio-Pleistocene dell'Italia centrale. I. Paleontologia. *Geologica Romana* 13, 203–294.
- ESU, D. & GIROTTI, O. (2020). Cenozoic Non-marine and Brackish Water Gastropods from Italy. Neritimorpha, Caenogastropoda, Heterobranchia. Systematic and chronostratigraphic revision. ConchBooks, Harxheim.
- EVANOFF, E., GOOD, S. C. & HANLEY, J. H. (1998). An overview of the freshwater mollusks from the Morrison Formation (Upper Jurassic, Western Interior, USA). *Modern Geology* 22, 423–450.
- EZARD, T. H. G. & PURVIS, A. (2016). Environmental changes define ecological limits to species richness and reveal the mode of macroevolutionary competition. *Ecology Letters* 19, 899–906.
- FABRE-TAXY, S. (1951). Faunes lagunaires et continentales du Crétacé Supérieur de Provence. II – Le Campanien fluvio-lacustre. Annales de Paléontologie 37, 83–122.
- FABRE-TAXY, S. (1959). Faunes lagunaires et continentales du Crétacé Supérieur de Provence. III – Le Maestrichtien et le Danien. Annales de Paléontologie 45, 55–124.
- FISCHER VON WALDHEIM, G. (1837). Oryctographie du Gouvernement de Moscou. Auguste Semen, Moscou.

- FRESE, M. & PONDER, W. (2021). Proviviparus talbragarensis gen. et sp. nov., the first viviparid snail from the Late Jurassic of Australia. Alcheringa: An Australasian Journal of Palaeontology 45, 344–353.
- GARWOOD, E. J. (1922). On a freshwater shale with *Viviparus* and associated beds from the base of the Carboniferous rocks in Ribblesdale, Yorkshire. *Geological Magazine* 59, 289–293.
- GAUTIER, A. (1970). Fossil fresh water Mollusca of the Lake Albert-Lake Edward Rift (Uganda). Annales du Musée royal de l'Afrique centrale, Série in 8°, Sciences Géologiques 67, 1–144.
- GAUTIER, A. & VAN DAMME, D. (1973). A revision of the Miocene freshwater molluscs of the Mohari formation (Sinda-Mohari, N.E. Zaire). Annales du Musée royal de l'Afrique centrale, Série in 8°, Sciences Géologiques 75, 37–63.
- GEARY, D. H., HOFFMANN, E., MAGYAR, I., FREIHEIT, J. & PADILLA, D. (2012). Body size, longevity, and growth rate in lake Pannon melanopsid gastropods and their predecessors. *Paleobiology* 38, 554–568.
- GEINITZ, H. B. (1861). Dyas oder die Zechsteinformation und das Rothliegende (Permische Formation zum Theil). W. Engelmann, Leipzig.
- GIERLOWSKI-KORDESCH, E. H. & KELTS, K. R. (eds) (1994). Global Geological Record of Lake Basins. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- GIERLOWSKI-KORDESCH, E. H. & KELTS, K. R. (eds) (2000). Lake Basins through Space and Time. American Association of Petroleum Geologists, Tulsa.
- GILLET, S. (1953). Les marnes à Cyrènes de l'Oligocène d'Alsace. Revue de l'Institut français du pétrole 8, 395–422.
- GITTENBERGER, E., TOGBAY, K., GYELTSHEN, C. & NESEMANN, H. (2021). Two high-altitude species of molluscs, new for Bhutan (Bivalvia, Sphaeriidae – Gastropoda, Lymnaeidae). *Basteria* 85, 13–17.
- GLAUBRECHT, M. (1996). Evolutionsökologie und Systematik am Beispiel von Süß- und Brackwasserschnecken (Mollusca: Caenogastropoda: Cerithioidea): Ontogenese-Strategien. Paläontologische Befunde und Zoogcographic, Backhuys, Leiden.
- GLIBERT, M. (1973). Revision des Gastropoda du Danien et du Montien de la Belgique. I. Les Gastropoda du Calcaire de Mons. Institut Royal des Sciences naturelles de Belgique, Mémoires 173, 1–305.
- GORJANOVIĆ-KRAMBERGER, C. (1923). Die Valenciennesiiden und einige anderen Limnaeiden der pontischen Stufe des unteren Pliocäns in ihrer stratigraphischen und genetischen Bedeutung. Glasnik Hrvatskoga prirodoslornoga društva 35, 87–114.
- GRAY, J. (1988). Evolution of the freshwater ecosystem: the fossil record. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 62, 1–214.
- GREEN, P. A., VÖRÖSMARTY, C. J., HARRISON, I., FARRELL, T., SÁENZ, L. & FEKETE, B. M. (2015). Freshwater ecosystem services supporting humans: pivoting from water crisis to water solutions. *Global Environmental Change* 34, 108–118.
- GUO, F. & WEI, J. (1984). Gastropoda. In Paleontological Atlas of Northwestern China, Volume Xinjiang (Volume 3, eds Geological Survey Department of Bureau of Petroleum of Xinjiang Autonomous Region, and Regional Geological Survey Team, Bureau of Geology and Mineral Resources of Xinjiang Autonomous Region), pp. 83–93. Geological Publishing House, Beijing.
- GUO, F., YU, W. & PAN, H. (1982). Gastropoda. In Paleontological Atlas of Northwest China. Shaanxi Gansu Ningxia Volume. Part III Mesozoic and Cenozoic (ed. XI'AN INSTITUTE OF GEOLOGY AND MINERAL RESOURCES), pp. 28–52. Geological Publishing House, Beijing.
- HAMPTON, S. E., MCGOWAN, S., OZERSKY, T., VIRDIS, S. G. P., VU, T. T., SPANBAUER, T. L., KRAEMER, B. M., SWANN, G., MACKAY, A. W., POWERS, S. M., MEYER, M. F., LABOU, S. G., O'REILLY, C. M., DICARLO, M., GALLOWAY, A. W. E., *ET 4L.* (2018). Recent ecological change in ancient lakes. *Linnology and Oceanography* **63**, 2277–2304.
- HANLEY, J. H. & FLORES, R. M. (1987). Taphonomy and paleoecology of nonmarine Mollusca: indicators of alluvial plain lacustrine sedimentation, upper part of the Tongue River member, fort union formation (Paleocene), Northern Powder River Basin, Wyoming and Montana. 2, 479–496.
- HARTMAN, J. H. (1998). The stratigraphy of Mesozoic and early Cenozoic nonmarine mollusks of Colorado. Proceedings of the Denver Museum of Natural History 3, 1–15.
- HARZHAUSER, M. & MANDIC, O. (2008). Neogene lake systems of Central and South-Eastern Europe: faunal diversity, gradients and interrelations. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* **260**, 417–434.
- HARZHAUSER, M., MANDIC, O., LATAL, C. & KERN, A. (2012). Stable isotope composition of the Miocene Dinaride Lake System deduced from its endemic mollusc fauna. *Hydrobiologia* 682, 27–46.
- HARZHAUSER, M. & NEUBAUER, T. A. (2021). A review of the land snail faunas of the European Cenozoic – composition, diversity and turnovers. *Earth-Science Reviews* 217, 103610.
- HARZHAUSER, M., NEUBAUER, T. A., BUSSERT, R. & EISAWI, A. A. M. (2017). Ampullariid gastropods from the Palaeogene Hudi Chert Formation (Republic of the Sudan). *Journal of African Earth Sciences* **129**, 338–345.
- HARZHAUSER, M., NEUBAUER, T. A., GROSS, M. & BINDER, H. (2014). The early Middle Miocene mollusc fauna of Lake Rein (Eastern Alps, Austria). Palaeontographica, Abt. A: Palaeozoology –Stratigraphy 302, 1–71.

- HASZPRUNAR, G. (2014). A nomenclator of extant and fossil taxa of the Valvatidae (Gastropoda, Ectobranchia). ZooKeys 377, 1–172.
- HASZPRUNAR, G. (2022). An update to the 2014 nomenclator of Valvatidae. ZooKeys 1092, 147–194.
- HASZPRUNAR, G. & WANNINGER, A. (2012). Molluscs. Current Biology 22, R510-R514.
- HAUSDORF, B., RÖPSTORF, P. & RIEDEL, F. (2003). Relationships and origin of endemic Lake Baikal gastropods (Caenogastropoda: Rissooidea) based on mitochondrial DNA sequences. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 26, 435–443.
- HENDERSON, J. (1935). Fossil non-marine Mollusca of North America. Geological Society of America Special Papers 3, 1–313.
- HILGENDORF, F. (1867). Über Planorbis multiformis im Steinheimer Süßwasserkalk. Monatsberichte der Königlich-Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin 1866, 474–504.
- HOLLAND, S. M. (2016). The non-uniformity of fossil preservation. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **371**, 20150130.
- HÖLTKE, O. & RASSER, M. W. (2017). Land snails from the Miocene Steinheim impact crater lake sediments (Baden-Württemberg, South Germany). *Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie, Abhandlungen* 285, 267–302.
- HOORN, C., MOSBRUGGER, V., MULCH, A. & ANTONELLI, A. (2013). Biodiversity from mountain building. *Nature Geoscience* 6, 154.
- HRUBESCH, K. (1965). Gosau-Landschnecken des Coniac von Unterlaussa bei Windischgarsten, Oberösterreich. Mitteilungen der Bayerischen Staatssammlung für Paläontologie und Historische Geologie 5, 121–126.
- HUANG, B. (1983). Development of Oligocene Bohaispiridae (Gastropoda) in the Lower Liao-he River valley. Acta Palaeontologica Sinica 22, 101–110.
- HUCKRIEDE, R. (1967). Molluskenfaunen mit limnischen und brackischen Elementen aus Jura, Serpulit und Wealden NW-Deutschlands und ihre paläogeographische Bedeutung. *Geologisches Jahrbuch, Beiheft* 67, 1–263.
- ISAJI, S. (2010). Terrestrial and freshwater pulmonate gastropods from the Early Cretaceous Kuwajima Formation, Tetori Group, Japan. *Paleontological Research* 14, 233–243.
- JEKELIUS, E. (1932). Fauna Neogenă a României. Die Molluskenfauna der dazischen Stufe des Beckens von Braşov. Memorile Institutului geologic al României 2, 1–118.
- JEZKOVA, T. & WIENS, J. J. (2017). What explains patterns of diversification and richness among animal phyla? *The American Naturalist* 189, 201–212.
- JIPA, D. C. & OLARIU, C. (2009). Dacian Basin Depositional Architecture and Sedimentary History of a Paratethys Sea. GeoEcoMar, Bucharest.
- JOCHUM, A., YU, T. & NEUBAUER, T. A. (2020). First record of the Paleozoic land snail family Anthracopupidae in the lower Jurassic of China and the origin of Stylommatophora. *Journal of Paleontology* 94, 266–272.
- JODOT, P. (1953). Les Pseudoceratodes du Nummulitique continental circumsaharien. Bulletin du Service de la carte géologique de l'Algérie. Premiére série, Paléontologie 17, 1–131.
- JODOT, P. (1958). Les faunes des mollusques continentaux reparties dans le sud-est de l'Espagne entre le Miocène supérieur et le Quaternaire. Memorias y comunicaciones del Instituto Geológico 17, 3–133.
- JOHNSON, P. D., BOGAN, A. E., BROWN, K. M., BURKHEAD, N. M., CORDEIRO, J. R., GARNER, J. T., HARTFIELD, P. D., LEPITZKI, D. A. W., MACKIE, G. L., PIP, E., TARPLEY, T. A., TIEMANN, J. S., WHELAN, N. V. & STRONG, E. E. (2013). Conservation status of freshwater gastropods of Canada and the United States. *Fisheries* 38, 247–282.
- JÖRGER, K. M., BRENZINGER, B., NEUSSER, T. P., MARTYNOV, A. V., WILSON, N. G. & SCHRÖDL, M. (2014). Panpulmonate habitat transitions: tracing the evolution of Acochlidia (Heterobranchia, Gastropoda). *bioRxiv.* https://doi.org/10. 1101/010322. Accessed 1.4.2023.
- JÖRGER, K. M., STÖGER, I., KANO, Y., FUKUDA, H., KNEBELSBERGER, T. & SCHRÖDL, M. (2010). On the origin of Acochlidia and other enigmatic euthyneuran gastropods, with implications for the systematics of Heterobranchia. *BMC Evolutionary Biology* **10**, 323.
- KADOLSKY, D. (1993). Der Gattung Nystia zugeordnete Arten im Tertiär des mittleren und westlichen Europas (Gastropoda: Rissooidea). Archiv für Molluskenkande 122, 335–402.
- KADOLSKY, D. (1995). Stratigraphie und Molluskenfaunen von 'Landschneckenkalk' und 'Cerithienschichten' im Mainzer Becken (Oberoligozän bis Untermiozän?), 2: Revision der aquatischen Mollusken des Landschneckenkalkes. Archiv für Molluskenkunde 124, 1–55.
- KADOLSKY, D. (2022). The 'Litorinella' species (Gastropoda: Truncatelloidea, Murchisonelloidea) reported by A. Braun (1851) from the Selztal Group in the Mainz Basin (early Oligocene, Germany). Archiv für Molluskenkunde 151, 43–65.
- KADOLSKY, D. & MORTON, A. (2022). An unusual Nystia species (Gastropoda, Truncatelloidea) from the early Rupelian of the Isle of Wight (Hampshire Basin, England). Cainozoic Research 22, 3–7.
- KANO, Y., CHIBA, S. & KASE, T. (2002). Major adaptive radiation in neritopsine gastropods estimated from 28S rRNA sequences and fossil records. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences* 269, 2457–2465.
- KENDRICK, G. W. (1978). New species of fossil nonmarine molluscs from Western Australia and evidence of late Quaternary climate change in the Shark Bay district. *Journal of the Royal Society of Western Australia* 60, 49–60.

- KLUSSMANN-KOLB, A., DINAPOLI, A., KUHN, K., STREIT, B. & ALBRECHT, C. (2008). From sea to land and beyond – new insights into the evolution of euthyneuran Gastropoda (Mollusca). *BMC Evolutionary Biology* 8, 57.
- KOCHANSKY-DEVIDÉ, V. & SLIŠKOVIĆ, T. (1972). Revizija roda Clivunella Katzer, 1918 i Delminiella n.gen. (Gastropoda). Geološki glasnik 16, 47–70.
- KOCSIS, A. T. & SCOTESE, C. R. (2021). Mapping paleocoastlines and continental flooding during the Phanerozoic. *Earth-Science Reviews* 213, 103463.
- KOLESNIKOV, C. M. (1980). Sistema, stratigraficheskoye raspredeleniye i zoogeografiya Mezozoyskikh limnocheskikh dvustvorchatykh mollyuskov SSSR. In Limnobios drevnikh ozernykh basseynov Yevrazii (ed. G. G. MARTINSON), pp. 9–65. Nauka, Leningrad.
- KOLESNIKOV, V. P. (1950). Paleontologiya SSSR. Tom X, Chast' 3, Vyp. 12: Akchagyl'skiye i apsheronskiye mollyuski. Izdatel'stvo Akademii nauk SSSR, Moskva, Leningrad.
- KOWALKE, T. (2002). Systematic revision of Palaeocene brackish water Gastropoda from Mons, Belgium, based on their early ontogenetic shells. *Bulletin de l'Institut Royal des Sciences Naturelle de Belgique* 72, 111–134.
- LA ROCQUE, A. (1960). The molluscan faunas of the Flagstaff formation of Central Utah. *Geological Society of America Memoirs* **78**, 1–100.
- LA ROCQUE, A. (1968). Pleistocene Mollusca of Ohio. State of Ohio, Department of Natural Resources, Division of Geological Survey, Bulletin 62, 357–553.
- LANCI, L., TOHVER, E., WILSON, A. & FLINT, S. (2013). Upper Permian magnetic stratigraphy of the lower Beaufort Group, Karoo Basin. *Earth and Planetary Science Letters* 375, 123–134.
- LAZAREV, S., DE LEEUW, A., STOICA, M., MANDIC, O., VAN BAAK, C. G. C., VASILIEV, I. & KRIJGSMAN, W. (2020). From Khersonian drying to Pontian 'flooding': late Miocene stratigraphy and palaeoenvironmental evolution of the Dacian Basin (Eastern Paratethys). *Global and Planetary Change* **192**, 103224.
- LEAL, J. H. & HARASEWYCH, M. G. (1999). Deepest Atlantic molluscs: hadal limpets (Mollusca, Gastropoda, Cocculiniformia) from the northern boundary of the Caribbean Plate. *Invertebrate Biology* 118, 116–136.
- LEHTONEN, S., SILVESTRO, D., KARGER, D. N., SCOTESE, C., TUOMISTO, H., KESSLER, M., PEÑA, C., WAHLBERG, N. & ANTONELLI, A. (2017). Environmentally driven extinction and opportunistic origination explain ferm diversification patterns. *Scientific Reports* 7, 4831.
- LEONARD, A. B. (1957). Types of late Cenozoic gastropods in the Frank Collins Baker Collection, Illinois State Geological Survey. *Illinois State Geological Survey Report of Investigations* 201, 1–23.
- LEROY, A., MOREAU, F., PLAZIAT, J.-C., PACAUD, J.-M., BIGNOT, G. & DION, M. (2014). La série marine du Thanétien moyen (Formation des Sables de Châlonssur-Vesle) à Cauroy-lès-Hermonville (Marne, France). Description et interprétation environnementale de sa sédimentation et de sa faune. *Cossmanniana* **16**, 3–119.
- LI, Y. (1988). Margarya and Paraprosothenia (Gastropoda) from the Sheshan Formation in Lijiang Basin, western Yunnan. Professional Papers of Stratigraphy and Palaeontology 22, 159–168.
- LÖCSE, F., SITTNER, H., TRÜMPER, S., MEYER, J. & RÖSSLER, R. (2020). August von Gutbiers Typuslokalität Reinsdorf: Erkenntnisse zur Sedimentologie und Geochemie der Rotliegend-Basis im südwestlichen Chemnitz-Becken. Senckenberg Gesellschaft für Naturforschung. *Geologica Saxonica* 65(66), 77–117.
- LÖRENTHEY, E. (1895). Einige Bemerkungen über Papyrotheca. Földtani Közlöny 25, 387–392.
- LOSOS, J. B. & RICKLEFS, R. E. (2009). Adaptation and diversification on islands. *Nature* 457, 830–836.
- LOZOUET, P. (2003). A new species of *Iravadia* s.s. (Mollusca, Gastropoda, Iravadiidae) from the late Oligocene of the Aquitaine Basin (southern France). The earliest record of brackish-water Iravadiidae? *Geodiversitas* 25, 237–242.
- LUBENESCU, V. (2016). Biostratigraphic correlations between the Dacian and Pannonian basins from Romania. *Geo-Eco-Marina* 22, 161–179.
- LUBENESCU, V. & ZAZULEAC, D. (1985). Les Viviparidés du Néogène supérieur du Bassin Dacique. Mémoires – L'Institut de Géologie et de Géophysique 32, 77–136.
- LUDWIG, R. (1861). Zur Palaeontologie des Ural's. Palaeontographica 10, 17–36.
- MADURGA, M. C. (1973). Los gasterópodos dulceacuícolas y terrestres del Cuaternario español. Boletín de la Real Sociedad Española de Historia Natural 71, 43–165.
- MAGYAR, I. & GEARY, D. H. (2012). Biostratigraphy in a late Neogene Caspian-type Lacustrine Basin: Lake Pannon, Hungary. *Lacustrine sandstone reservoirs and hydrocarbon systems* 95, 255–264.
- MAGYAR, I., RADIVOJEVIĆ, D., SZTANÓ, O., SYNAK, R., UJSZÁSZI, K. & PÓCSIK, M. (2013). Progradation of the paleo-Danube shelf margin across the Pannonian Basin during the Late Miocene and Early Pliocene. *Global and Planetary Change* 103, 168–173.
- MANDIC, O., HARZHAUSER, M. & NEUBAUER, T. A. (2020). Taxonomy, palacoecology and stratigraphy of the middle Miocene mollusk fauna from the Gračanica coal pit near Bugojno in Bosnia and Herzegovina. *Palaeobiodiversity and Palaeoenvironments* 100, 519–549.
- MANDIC, O., KUREČIĆ, T., NEUBAUER, T. A. & HARZHAUSER, M. (2015). Stratigraphic and palaeogeographic significance of lacustrine mollusks from the Pliocene Viviparus beds in Central Croatia. Geologia Croatica 68, 179–207.

Biological Reviews (2023) 000-000 © 2023 The Author. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

1469185x, 0, Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.13016 by Justus Liebig Universitated Giessen, Wiley Online Library on [23/11/2023]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Ceative Commons

- MANDIC, O., PAVELIĆ, D., HARZHAUSER, M., ZUPANIČ, J., REISCHENBACHER, D., SACHSENHOFER, R. F., TADEJ, N. & VRANJKOVIĆ, A. (2009). Depositional history of the Miocene Lake Sinj (Dinaride Lake System, Croatia): a long-lived hard-water lake in a pull-apart tectonic setting. *Journal of Paleolimnology* **41**, 431–452.
- MARSHALL, B. A. (2011). A new species of *Latia* Gray, 1850 (Gastropoda: Pulmonata: Hygrophila: Chilinoidea: Latiidae) from Miocene Palaco-lake Manuherikia, southern New Zealand, and biogeographic implications. *Molluscan Research* 31, 47–52.
- MARTENS, K. (1997). Speciation in ancient lakes. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 12, 177–182.
- MARTÍNEZ, S., SCASSO, R., ELGORRIAGA, A., CAPELLI, I., DEL VALLE, R., PUERTA, P., LIRIO, J. M. & RODRÍGUEZ AMENÁBAR, C. (2020). The (truly) first fossil freshwater molluses from Antarctica. *Paläontologische Zeitschrift* 94, 513–518.
- MARTINSON, G. G. (1957). Mezozoyskiye presnovodnyye mollyuski nekotorykh rayonov Vostochnoy i Tsentral'noy Azii. Trudy Baikal'skoy Limnologicheskoy Stantzii Akademii Nauk SSSR 15, 262–336.
- MARTINSON, G. G. (1961). Mezozoiskie i Kainozoiskie Molliuski kontinentalnykh otlozhenii Sibirskoi Platformy Zabaikalia i Mongolii. *Trudy Baikal'skoy Limnologicheskoy Stantzii Akademii Nauk SSSR* 19, 1–332.
- MARTINSON, G. G. (1982). Pozdnemelovyye mollyuski Mongolii: sistematika, stratigrafiya, tafonomiya. *Trudy Sovmestnaya Sovetsko-Mongol'skaya Paleontologicheskaya Ekspeditsiya* 17, 1–82.
- MATHERON, P. (1843). Catalogue méthodique et descriptif des corps organisés fossiles du départment des Bouches-du-Rhône et lieux circonvoisins. Répertoire des travaux de la Société de statistique de Marseille 6, 81–341.
- MAYER-EYMAR, C. (1901). Interessante neue Gastropoden aus dem Untertertiär Egyptens. Vierteljahrsschrift der Naturforschenden Gesellschaft in Zürich 46, 22–33.
- MCMICHAEL, D. F. (1968). Non-marine Mollusca from tertiary rocks in northern Australia. Australia Bureau of Mineral Resources, Geology and Geophysics Bulletin 80, 133–159.
- MENSINK, H. (1984). Die Entwicklung der Gastropoden im miozänen See des Steinheimer Beckens. Palaeontographica Abt. A 183, 1–63.
- MERTIN, H. (1939). Über Brackwasserbildungen in der Oberen Kreide des nördlichen Harzvorlandes. Nova Acta Leopoldina, Neue Folge 7, 139–263.
- MICHEL, E. (1994). Why snails radiate: a review of gastropod evolution in long-lived lakes, both recent and fossil. Archiv für Hydrobiologie – Beiheft: Ergebnisse der Linnologie 44, 285–317.
- MILLER, B. B. & TEVESZ, M. J. S. (2001). Freshwater molluscs. In *Tracking Environmental Change Using Lake Sediments. Volume 4: Zoological Indicators* (eds J. P. SMOL, H. J. B. BIRKS and W. M. LAST), p. 217. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht.
- MILLER, M. F. & LABANDEIRA, C. C. (2002). Slow crawl across the salinity divide: delayed colonization of freshwater ecosystems by invertebrates. GSA Today 12, 4–10.
- MILOŠEVIĆ, V. M. (1970). Paleontološko stratigrafski odnosi fosilnih gasteropodskih vrsta ex gr. Kosovia strophostomopsis V. Milošević i Metohia levantica (R. Popović) iz jezerskih sedimenata neogena Metohijske kotline. Bulletin du Museum d'Histoire Naturelle de Belgrade, Série A 25, 71–81.
- MIRANTSEV, G. V. & ROZHNOV, S. V. (2012). New data on carboniferous crinoids from the Moscow region. *Zoosymposia* 7, 91–100.
- MOLLUSCABASE EDS (2023). MolluscaBase. https://www.molluscabase.org. Accessed 16.5.2023.
- MONDAL, S. & HARRIES, P. J. (2016). The effect of taxonomic corrections on Phanerozoic generic richness trends in marine bivalves with a discussion on the clade's overall history. *Paleobiology* 42, 157–171.
- MORTON, L. S. (1986). Gastropodos de las formaciones San José y Chiquimil (Mioceno Tardio) Catamarca y Tucumán, Argentina. *Ameghiniana* 23, 203–211.
- MORTON, L. S. & HERBST, R. (2003). Moluscos dulceacuícolas de las Formaciones San José y Chiquimil (Mioceno) del Valle de Santa María (Catamarca y Tucumán), Argentina. Ameghiniana 40, 205–216.
- MUNT, M. C. (2014). Mollusca from the insect limestone (Bembridge marks member: Bouldnor formation: Solent group), Palaeogene, Isle of Wight, southern England. Earth and Environmental Science Transactions of the Royal Society of Edinburgh 104, 263–274.
- MUSALIZI, S. (2017). Taxonomy and ecology of the fossil freshwater molluses from late Miocene Palaeolake Obweruka in the Albertine Basin (Uganda). Münchner Geowissenschaftliche Abhandlungen, Reihe A: Geologie und Paläontologie 45, 1–55.
- NATH, T. T. (1999). Fresh water gastropods from the Maleri Formation (Upper Triassic) of the Godavari Valley, Andrah Pradesh. *Journal of the Geological Society of India* 54, 399–403.
- NEIBER, M. T. & GLAUBRECHT, M. (2019a). Annotated nomenclator of extant and fossil taxa of the Paludomidae (Caenogastropoda, Cerithioidea). ZooKeys 850, 1–132.
- NEIBER, M. T. & GLAUBRECHT, M. (2019b). Unparalleled disjunction or unexpected relationships? Molecular phylogeny and biogeography of Melanopsidae (Caenogastropoda: Cerithioidea), with the description of a new family and a new genus from the ancient continent Zealandia. *Cladistics* 35, 401–425.
- NEUBAUER, T. A. (2016). A nomenclator of extant and fossil taxa of the Melanopsidae (Gastropoda, Cerithioidea). ZooKeys 602, 1–358.

- NEUBAUER, T. A. (2023). The fossil record of the Lymnaeidae revisiting a 200-Myr-long story of success. In *The Lymnaeidae. A Handbook on their Natural History and Parasitological Significance* (eds M. V. VINARSKI and A. A. VÁZQUEZ). Springer, Cham.
- NEUBAUER, T. A. & GEORGOPOULOU, E. (2021). Extinction risk is linked to lifestyle in freshwater gastropods. *Diversity and Distributions* 27, 2357–2368.
- NEUBAUER, T. A., GEORGOPOULOU, E., HARZHAUSER, M., MANDIC, O. & KROH, A. (2016a). Predictors of shell size in long-lived lake gastropods. *Journal of Biogeography* **43**, 2062–2074.
- NEUBAUER, T. A., GEORGOPOULOU, E., KROH, A., HARZHAUSER, M., MANDIC, O. & ESU, D. (2015a). Synopsis of European Neogene freshwater gastropod localities: updated stratigraphy and geography. *Palaeontologia Electronica* 18, 3T.
- NEUBAUER, T. A. & HARZHAUSER, M. (2022). Onset of Late Cretaceous diversification in Europe's freshwater gastropod fauna links to global climatic and biotic events. *Scientific Reports* 12, 2684.
- NEUBAUER, T. A., HARZHAUSER, M., GEORGOPOULOU, E., KROH, A. & MANDIC, O. (2015b). Tectonics, climate, and the rise and demise of continental aquatic species richness hotspots. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the* United States of America 112, 11478–11483.
- NEUBAUER, T. A., HARZHAUSER, M., GEORGOPOULOU, E. & WROZYNA, C. (2014a). Population bottleneck triggering millennial-scale morphospace shifts in endemic thermal-spring melanopsids. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* **414**, 116–128.
- NEUBAUER, T. A., HARZHAUSER, M., HARTMAN, J. H., SILVESTRO, D., SCOTESE, C. R., CZAJA, A., VERMEIJ, G. J. & WILKE, T. (2022a). Short-term paleogeographic reorganizations and climate events shaped diversification of North American freshwater gastropods over deep time. *Scientific Reports* 12, 15572.
- NEUBAUER, T. A., HARZHAUSER, M. & KROH, A. (2013). Phenotypic evolution in a fossil gastropod species lineage: evidence for adaptive radiation? *Palaeogeography*, *Palaeoclimatology*, *Palaeoecology* **370**, 117–126.
- NEUBAUER, T. A., HARZHAUSER, M., KROH, A., GEORGOPOULOU, E. & MANDIC, O. (2015c). A gastropod-based biogeographic scheme for the European Neogene freshwater systems. *Earth-Science Reviews* 143, 98–116.
- NEUBAUER, T. A., HARZHAUSER, M., MANDIC, O., GEORGOPOULOU, E. & KROH, A. (2016b). Paleobiogeography and historical biogeography of the nonmarine caenogastropod family Melanopsidae. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* 444, 124–143.
- NEUBAUER, T. A., HARZHAUSER, M., MANDIC, O., KROH, A. & GEORGOPOULOU, E. (2016c). Evolution, turnovers and spatial variation of the gastropod fauna of the late Miocene biodiversity hotspot Lake Pannon. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* 442, 84–95.
- NEUBAUER, T. A., HAUFFE, T., SILVESTRO, D., SCHAUER, J., KADOLSKY, D., WESSELINGH, F. P., HARZHAUSER, M. & WILKE, T. (2021). Current extinction rate in European freshwater gastropods greatly exceeds that of the late Cretaceous mass extinction. *Communications Earth & Environment* 2, 97.
- NEUBAUER, T. A., HAUFFE, T., SILVESTRO, D., SCOTESE, C. R., STELBRINK, B., ALBRECHT, C., DELICADO, D., HARZHAUSER, M. & WILKE, T. (2022b). Drivers of diversification in freshwater gastropods vary over deep time. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 289, 20212057.
- NEUBAUER, T. A., KROH, A., HARZHAUSER, M., GEORGOPOULOU, E. & MANDIC, O. (2014b). Synopsis of valid species-group taxa for freshwater Gastropoda recorded from the European Neogene. *ZooKeys* **435**, 1–6.
- NEUBAUER, T. A., MANDIC, O. & HARZHAUSER, M. (2016d). The freshwater mollusk fauna of the Middle Miocene Lake Drniš (Dinaride Lake System, Croatia): a taxonomic and systematic revision. *Austrian Journal of Earth Sciences* 108, 15–67.
- NEUBAUER, T. A., MANDIC, O., HARZHAUSER, M. & JOVANOVIĆ, G. (2017). The discovery of *Bulinus* (Pulmonata: Planorbidae) in a Miocene palaeolake in the Balkan Peninsula. *Journal of Molluscan Studies* 83, 295–303.
- NEUBAUER, T. A., MANDIC, O., JOVANOVIĆ, G. & HARZHAUSER, M. (2020). The Serbian Lake System: a stepping stone for freshwater molluscs in the middle Miocene. *Papers in Palaeontology* 6, 533–569.
- NEUBAUER, T. A., VAN DE VELDE, S., YANINA, T. & WESSELINGH, F. P. (2018). A late Pleistocene gastropod fauna from the northern Caspian Sea with implications for Pontocaspian gastropod taxonomy. *ZooKeys* **770**, 43–103.
- NEUMAYR, M. & PAUL, C. M. (1875). Die Congerien- und Paludienschichten Slavoniens und deren Faunen. Abhandlungen der k. K. Geologischen Reichsanstalt 7, 1–106.
- NEVESSKAYA, L. A. (2008). Dynamics of taxonomic diversity of bivalves in the Phanerozoic. *Paleontological Journal* **42**, 335–342.
- NICOLAS, H. (1898). Mollusques nouveaux. Association Française pour l'avancement des sciences. Compte Rendu de la 26me Session. Saint-Étienne 1897, 528–537.
- NIELSEN, J. K., HELAMA, S. & NIELSEN, J. K. (2008). Taphonomy of freshwater molluscs in carbonate-poor deposits: a case study of the river pearl mussel in northeastern Finnish Lapland. *Norwegian Journal of Geology* 88, 103–116.
- NISHIDA, N., SHIRAI, A., KOARAI, K., NAKADA, K. & MATSUKAWA, M. (2013). Paleoecology and evolution of Jurassic–cretaceous corbiculoids from Japan. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* 369, 239–252.

- NUTTALL, C. P. (1990). A review of the tertiary non-marine molluscan faunas of the Pebasian and other inland basins of North-Western South America. Bulletin of The British Museum (Natural History), Geology Series 45, 165–371.
- ODHNER, N. H. J. (1930). Non-marine Mollusca from Pliocene deposits of Kwangsi, China. Palaeontologia Sinica, Series B 6, 1–34.
- OPPENHEIM, P. (1895). Beiträge zur Binnenfauna der provençalischen Kreide. Palaeontographica 42, 309–378.
- OPPENHEIM, P. (1919). Das Neogen in Kleinasien. Zeitschrift der Deutschen Geologischen Gesellschaft 70, 1–210.
- PACAUD, J.-M. (2008). Le contenu paléontologique du Lutétien du bassin de Paris. Mollusca. In *Stratotype Lutétien* (ed. D. MERLE), pp. 40–95. Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle, Biotyope, BRGM, Paris, Mèze, Orléans.
- PACAUD, J.-M. (2011). Le genre Bouryia Cossmann, 1888 (Gastropoda: Littorinimorpha: Pomatiopsidae?) des sables thanétiens (Paléocène) du bassin de Paris. Cossmanniana 13, 3–10.
- PACAUD, J.-M. & LE RENARD, J. (1995). Révision des Mollusques paléogènes du bassin de Paris. IV – Liste systématique actualisée. Cossmanniana 3, 151–187.
- PALADILHE, A. (1874). Description de quelques nouvelles espèces de coquilles fossiles provenant des marnes pleistocènes d'estuaire des environs d'Oran. *Revue des sciences naturelles* 3, 399–405.
- PALLARY, P. (1901). Mémoire 22. Sur les mollusques fossiles terrestres, fluviatiles et saumâtres de l'Algérie. Mémoires de la Société Géologique de France, Paléontologie 9, 1–213.
- PAN, H. (1977). Mesozoic and Cenozoic fossil Gastropoda from Yunnan. In Mesozoic Fossils from Yunnan. 2 (ed. NANJING INSTITUTE OF GEOLOGY AND PALAEONTOLOGY), pp. 83–152. Science Press, Beijing.
- PAN, H. (1982). Late Triassic-early Jurassic gastropods from eastern Hunan and northeastern Guangxi. *Memoirs of Nanjing Institute of Geology and Palaeontology, Academia Sinica* 6, 85–109.
- PARODIZ, J. J. (1969). The tertiary non-marine Mollusca of South America. Annals of Carnegie Museum 40, 1–242.
- PEBESMA, E. (2018). Simple features for R: standardized support for spatial vector data. The R Journal 10, 439–446.
- PEBESMA, E., MAILUND, T. & HIEBERT, J. (2016). Measurement units in R. The R Journal 8, 486–494.
- PERRILLIAT, M. D. C., VEGA, F. J., ESPINOSA, B. & NARANJO-GARCIA, E. (2008). Late cretaceous and Paleogene freshwater gastropods from northeastern Mexico. *Journal of Paleontology* 82, 255–266.
- PETRONIO, C., ARCENTI, P., CALOI, L., ESU, D., GIROTTI, O. & SARDELLA, R. (2003). Updating Villafranchian mollusc and mammal faunas in Umbria and Latium (Central Italy). *Geologica Romana* 36, 369–387.
- PIERCE, H. G. (1993). The nonmarine mollusks of the Late Oligocene-Early Miocene Cabbage Patch fauna of western Montana III. Aquatic mollusks and conclusions. *Journal of Paleontology* 67, 980–993.
- PIERCE, H. G. & CONSTENIUS, K. N. (2001). Late Eocene-Oligocene nonmarine mollusks of the northern Kishenehn Basin, Montana and British Columbia. *Annals* of Carnegie Museum 70, 1–112.
- PIERCE, H. G. & CONSTENIUS, K. N. (2014). Terrestrial and aquatic mollusks of the Eocene Kishenehn Formation, Middle Fork Flathead River, Montana. Annals of Carnegie Museum 82, 305–329.
- PILSBRY, H. A. (1953). Fresh-water mollusks. In Pliocene Mollusca of southern Florida, with special reference to those from North Saint Petersburg (Volume 8), pp. 439–447. Monographs of The Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia, Philadelphia.
- PONDER, W. F. & AVERN, G. J. (2000). The Glacidorbidae (Mollusca: Gastropoda: Heterobranchia) of Australia. *Records of the Australian Museum* 52, 307–353.
- POPOVA, S. M. (1968). Eopleystotsenovyye kontinental'nyye mollyuski Anginskoy tolshchi severo-zapadnogo Pribaykal'ya. *Trudy Linnologicheskogo Instituta Sibirskogo* Otdeleniya Akademii Nauk SSSR 26, 252–258.
- POPOVA, S. M., DEVYATKIN, Y. V. & STAROBOGATOV, Y. I. (1970). Mollyuski kyzylgirskov svity Gornogo Altaya. Nauka, Moskva.
- POPOVIĆ, R. (1964). Novi rod *Metohia* iz Levanta Metohijskog basena. *Nafta* **15**, 45–53.
- PRASHAD, B. (1930). On some undescribed freshwater molluscs from various parts of India and Burma. *Records of the Geological Survey of India* 63, 428–433.
- R CORE TEAM (2021). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Version 4.1.2. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna. Electronic file available at https://www.r-project.org/.
- RABOSKY, D. L. (2013). Diversity-dependence, ecological speciation, and the role of competition in macroevolution. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* 44, 481–502.
- RABOSKY, D. L. & BENSON, R. B. J. (2021). Ecological and biogeographic drivers of biodiversity cannot be resolved using clade age-richness data. *Nature Communications* 12, 2945.
- RASSER, M. W. (2013). Evolution in isolation: the Gyraulus species flock from Miocene Lake Steinheim revisited. Speciation in Ancient Lakes – Classic Concepts and New Approaches 739, 7–24.
- RASSER, M. W. & COVICH, A. P. (2014). Predation on freshwater snails in Miocene Lake Steinheim: a trigger for intralacustrine evolution? *Lethaia* 47, 524–532.

- RAUSCH, L., ALÇIÇEK, H., VIALET, A., BOULBES, N., MAYDA, S., TITOV, V. V., STOICA, M., CHARBONNIER, S., ABELS, H. A., TESAKOV, A. S., MOIGNE, A.-M., ANDRIEU-PONEL, V., DE FRANCESCHI, D., NEUBAUER, T. A., WESSELINGH, F. P., *ET AL.* (2019). An integrated reconstruction of the early Pleistocene palaceorynoment of *Homo erectus* in the Denizli Basin (SW Turkey). *Geobios* 57, 77–95.
- RINEAU, V., SMYČKA, J. & STORCH, D. (2022). Diversity dependence is a ubiquitous phenomenon across Phanerozoic oceans. *Science Advances* 8, eadd9620.
- ROBLES, F. (1989). Moluscos continentales del Plio-Pleistoceno de la cuenca de Guadix-Baza. Trabajos Neogeno-Cuaternario 11, 127–138.
- ROSENBERG, G. (2014). A new critical estimate of named species-level diversity of the Recent Mollusca. *American Malacological Bulletin* 32, 308–322.
- ROSSOUW, P. J. (1970). Freshwater Mollusca in the Beaufort series of southern Africa. In *Proceedings and Papers of the 2nd IUGS Symposium on Gondivana Stratigraphy* (ed. S. H. HAUGHTON), pp. 615–616. Cape Town.
- RUNNEGAR, B. & NEWELL, N. D. (1971). Caspian-like relict molluscan fauna in the South American Permian. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History 146, 1–66.
- RUSSELL, L. S. (1926). Mollusca of the Paskapoo formation in Alberta. Transactions of the Royal Society of Canada, third series. Section IV – Geological Sciences 20, 207–220.
- RUSSELL, L. S. (1932). Mollusca from the McMurray formation of Northern Alberta. Transactions of the Royal Society of Canada, third series. Section IV – Geological Sciences 26, 37–44.
- RUSSELL, L. S. (1934). Pleistocene and post-Pleistocene molluscan faunas of Southern Saskatchewan, with description of a new species of *Gyraulus* by Frank Collins Baker. *Canadian Field-Naturalist* **48**, 34–37.
- RUSSELL, L. S. (1947). A new locality for fossil fishes and eurypterids in the middle Devonian of Gaspé, Quebec. Contributions of the Royal Ontaria Museum of Palaeontology 12, 1–6.
- RUSSELL, L. S. (1974). Fauna and Correlation of the Ravenscrag Formation (Paleocene) of Southwestern Saskatchewan. Royal Ontario Museum and University of Toronto, Life Sciences, Contributions 102, 1–53.
- SALVADOR, R. B., CABRERA, F., MARTÍNEZ, S., MIQUEL, S. E., SIMONE, L. R. L. & CUNHA, C. M. (2018). Annotated catalogue of the fossil Hygrophila and Eupulmonata (Mollusca: Gastropoda) from South America (cretaceous–Neogene). *Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie, Abhandlungen* 289, 249–280.
- SALVADOR, R. B. & YU, T. (2022). Reassessment of Asian Mesoneritina spp. (Gastropoda, Neritidae), with the description of a new genus and species from middle cretaceous amber of northern Myanmar. *Cretaceous Research* 138, 105274.
- SALZBURGER, W., VAN BOCXLAER, B. & COHEN, A. S. (2014). Ecology and evolution of the African Great Lakes and their faunas. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and* Systematics 45, 519–545.
- SANDBERGER, C. L. F. (1870–1875). In Die Land- und Süßwasser-Conchylien der Vorwelt. C. W. Kreidel, Wiesbaden.
- SANDS, A. F., RIEDEL, F., GUMMERSBACH, V. S. & ALBRECHT, C. (2022). Against the flow: the Colonisation of the Lesotho highlands by freshwater limpets. *Frontiers in Environmental Science* 10, 914272.
- SCHLUTER, D. (2000). The Ecology of Adaptive Radiation. Oxford University Press, Oxford, New York.
- SCHÖN, I. & MARTENS, K. (2004). Adaptive, pre-adaptive and non-adaptive components of radiations in ancient lakes: a review. *Organisms, Diversity & Evolution* 4, 137–156.
- SILANTIEV, V. V. (2018). Permian nonmarine bivalve mollusks: review of geographical and stratigraphic distribution. *Paleontological Journal* 52, 707–729.
- SILVESTRO, D., ANTONELLI, A., SALAMIN, N. & QUENTAL, T. B. (2015). The role of clade competition in the diversification of North American canids. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 112, 8684–8689.
- SKAWINA, A. & DZIK, J. (2011). Umbonal musculature and relationships of the Late Triassic filibranch unionoid bivalves. *Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society* 163, 863–883.
- SOLEM, A. & YOCHELSON, E. L. (1979). North American Paleozoic land snails, with a summary of other Paleozoic nonmarine snails. United States Geological Survey Professional Paper 1072, 1–42.
- SOR, R., NGOR, P., BOETS, P., GOETHALS, P., LEK, S., HOGAN, Z. & PARK, Y.-S. (2020). Patterns of Mekong Mollusc biodiversity: identification of emerging threats and importance to management and livelihoods in a region of globally significant biodiversity and endemism. *Water* 12, 2619.
- STACHE, G. (1889). Die Liburnische Stufe und deren Grenzhorizonte. Eine Studie über die Schichtenfolgen der cretacisch-eocänen oder protocänen Landbildungsperiode im Bereiche der Küstenländer von Österreich-Ungarn mit einer einleitenden Uebersicht der geologischen Verhältnisse dieses Gebietes. Erste Abtheilung: Geologische Uebersicht und Beschreibung der Faunen und Floren-Reste. Abhandlungen der k. k. Geologischen Reichsanstalt 13, 1–170.
- STRAYER, D. L. & DUDGEON, D. (2010). Freshwater biodiversity conservation: recent progress and future challenges. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society* 29, 344–358.

Biological Reviews (2023) 000-000 © 2023 The Author. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

- STRIMAS-MACKEY, M. (2021). smoothr: Smooth and Tidy Spatial Features. R package version 0.2.2. Electronic file available at http://CRAN.R-project.org/package=smoothr. Accessed 30.5.2022.
- STRONG, E. E., GARGOMINY, O., PONDER, W. F. & BOUCHET, P. (2008). Global diversity of gastropods (Gastropoda; Mollusca) in freshwater. *Hydrobiologia* 595, 149–166.
- STRYDOM, N. A., WHITFIELD, A. K. & WOOLDRIDGE, T. H. (2003). The role of estuarine type in characterizing early stage fish assemblages in warm temperate estuaries, South Africa. *African Zoology* 38, 219–243.
- SYMONDS, M. F. (2002). The Neritidae of the Barton Group (Middle Eocene) of the Hampshire Basin. *Tertiary Research* 21, 1–10.
- SYMONDS, M. F. & TRACEY, S. (2014). Neritilia (Gastropoda, Neritopsina, Neritiliidae): pushing back the timeline. Cainozoic Research 14, 3–7.
- TAKTAKISHVILI, I. G. (1967). Istoricheskoye razvitiye semeystva valensiyenniid. Metsniyereba, Tbilisi.
- TANER, G. (1997). Das Pliozän des östlichen Dardanellen-Beckens, Türkei. Molluskenfauna und Stratigraphie. Annalen des Naturhistorischen Museums in Wien 98 A, 35–67.
- TAYLOR, D. W. (1965). The study of Pleistocene nonmarine mollusks in North America. In *The Quaternary of the United States* (eds H. E. WRIGHT and D. G. FREY), pp. 597–611. Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- TAYLOR, D. W. (1988). Aspects of freshwater mollusc ecological biogeography. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 62, 511–576.
- TOZER, E. T. (1956). Uppermost cretaceous and Paleocene nonmarine molluscan faunas of western Alberta. *Geological Survey of Canada, Memoir* 280, 1–125.
- TRUEMAN, A. E. & WEIR, J. (1946–1968). A Monograph of British Carboniferous non-marine Lanellibranchia. 13 parts. Palaeontographical Society London, London.
- TURNER, C. E. & FISHMAN, N. S. (1991). Jurassic Lake T'oo'dichi': a large alkaline, saline lake, Morrison formation, eastern Colorado Plateau. GSA Bulletin 103, 538–558.
- VAN BENTHEM JUTTING, T. (1937). Non marine Mollusca from fossil horizons in Java with special reference to the Trinil fauna. *Zoologische Mededelingen* 20, 83–180.
- VAN BOCXLAER, B. (2020). Paleoecological insights from fossil freshwater mollusks of the Kanapoi Formation (Omo-Turkana Basin, Kenya). *Journal of Human Evolution* 140, 102341.
- VAN BOCXLAER, B., ORTIZ-SEPULVEDA, C. M., GURDEBEKE, P. R. & VEKEMANS, X. (2020). Adaptive divergence in shell morphology in an ongoing gastropod radiation from Lake Malawi. *BMC Evolutionary Biology* 20, 5.
- VAN BOCXLAER, B., VAN DAMME, D. & FEIBEL, C. S. (2008). Gradual versus punctuated equilibrium evolution in the Turkana Basin molluscs: evolutionary events or biological invasions? *Evolution* 62, 511–520.
- VAN DAMME, D. & PICKFORD, M. (1994). The Late Cenozoic freshwater molluscs of the Albertine Rift, Uganda-Zaire: evolutionary and palaeoecological implications. In Geology and Palaebiology of the Albertine Rift Valley, Uganda-Zaire. Vol II: Palaebiology (eds B. SENUT and M. PICKFORD), pp. 71–87. CIFEG, Orléans.
- VAN DAMME, D. & PICKFORD, M. (1995). The late Cenozoic Ampullariidae (Mollusca, Gastropoda) of the Albertine Rift Valley (Uganda-Zaire). *Hydrobiologia* 316, 1–32.
- VAN DAMME, D. & PICKFORD, M. (1999). The late Cenozoic Viviparidae (Mollusca, Gastropoda) of the Albertine Rift Valley (Uganda-Congo). *Hydrobiologia* 390, 171–217.
- VAN DAMME, D. & PICKFORD, M. (2003). The late Cenozoic Thiaridae (Mollusca, Gastropoda, Cerithioidea) of the Albertine Rift Valley (Uganda-Congo) and their bearing on the origin and evolution of the Tanganyikan thalassoid malacofauna. *Hydrobiologia* 498, 1–83.
- VAN DE VELDE, S., YANINA, T. A., NEUBAUER, T. A. & WESSELINGH, F. P. (2020). The late Pleistocene mollusk fauna of Sclitrennoye (Astrakhan province, Russia): a natural baseline for endemic Caspian Sea faunas. *Journal of Great Lakes Research* 46, 1227–1239.
- VERMEIJ, G. J. & DUDLEY, R. (2000). Why are there so few evolutionary transitions between aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems? *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* 70, 541–554.
- VERMEIJ, G. J. & WESSELINGH, F. P. (2002). Neogastropod Molluscs from the Miocene of Western Amazonia, with comments on marine to freshwater transitions in Molluscs. *Journal of Paleontology* 76, 265–270.
- VINARSKI, M. V., BONDAREV, A. A. & MARKOV, A. V. (2011). Mollusks in Phanerozoic marine communities: implications from the analysis of global paleontological databases. *Paleontological Journal* 45, 358–369.
- VINTHER, J. (2015). The origins of molluscs. Palaeontology 58, 19-34.
- VON RINTELEN, T., BOUCHET, P. & GLAUBRECHT, M. (2007). Ancient lakes as hotspots of diversity: a morphological review of an endemic species flock of *Tylomelania* (Gastropoda: Cerithioidea: Pachychilidae) in the Malili lake system on Sulawesi, Indonesia. *Hydrobiologia* 592, 11–94.
- VON RINTELEN, T., WILSON, A. B., MEYER, A. & GLAUBRECHT, M. (2004). Escalation and trophic specialization drive adaptive radiation of freshwater gastropods in ancient lakes on Sulawesi, Indonesia. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 271, 2541–2549.

- WAGNER, P. J. (1995). Diversity patterns among early gastropods: contrasting taxonomic and phylogenetic descriptions. *Paleobiology* 21, 410–439.
- WANNINGER, A. & WOLLESEN, T. (2019). The evolution of molluscs. *Biological Reviews* 94, 102–115.
- WATTERS, G. T. (2001). The evolution of the Unionacea in North America, and its implications for the worldwide Fauna. In *Ecology and Evolution of the Freshwater Mussels Unionoida* (eds G. BAUER and K. WACHTLER), p. 394. Springer, Berlin.
- WELLBORN, G. A. & LANGERHANS, R. B. (2015). Ecological opportunity and the adaptive diversification of lineages. *Ecology and Evolution* 5, 176–195.
- WENZ, W. (1923–1930). Fossilium Catalogus I: Animalia. Gastropoda extramarina tertiaria. W. Junk, Berlin.
- WENZ, W. (1938–1944). Gastropoda. Teil 1: Allgemeiner Teil und Prosobranchia. In Handbuch der Paläozoologie, Band 6 (ed. O. H. SCHINDEWOLF), pp. 1–1639. Verlag Gebrüder Bornträger, Berlin.
- WENZ, W. (1940). Die ältesten Stylommatophoren des europäischen Raumes. Archiv für Molluskenkunde 72, 129–144.
- WESSELINGH, F. P. (2006a). Miocene long-lived lake Pebas as a stage of mollusc radiations, with implications for landscape evolution in western Amazonia. *Scripta Geologica* 133, 1–17.
- WESSELINGH, F. P. (2006b). Molluscs from the Miocene Pebas formation of Peruvian and Colombian Amazonia. *Scripta Geologica* 133, 19–290.
- WESSELINGH, F. P. (2007). Long-lived Lake Molluscs as Island faunas: a bivalve perspective. In *Biogeography, Time, and Place: Distributions, Barriers, and Islands* (ed. W. RENEMA), p. 414. Springer, Dordrecht.
- WESSELINGH, F. P., RÅSÄNEN, M. E., IRION, G., VONHOF, H. B., KAANDORP, R., RENEMA, W., ROMERO PITTMAN, L. & GINGRAS, M. (2002). Lake Pebas: a palaeoecological reconstruction of a Miocene, long-lived lake complex in western Amazonia. *Cainozoic Research* 1, 35–81.
- WESSELINGH, F. P. & RENEMA, W. (2009). Documenting molluscan evolution from ancient long-lived lakes: the case of *Toxosoma* Conrad, 1874 (Gastropoda, Cochliopidae) in Miocene Amazonian Lake Pebas. *American Malacological Bulletin* 27, 83–93.
- WHITTAKER, R. J. & FERNÁNDEZ-PALACIOS, J. M. (2007). Island Biogeography. Ecology, Evolution, and Conservation, Second Edition. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- WICKHAM, H. (2022). Tidyverse: easily install and load the 'Tidyverse'. R package version 1.3.1. Electronic file available at https://cran.r-project.org/web/ packages/tidyverse/index.html. Accessed 30.5.2022.
- WICKHAM, H., CHANG, W., HENRY, L., PEDERSEN, T. L., TAKAHASHI, K., WILKE, C., WOO, K., YUTANI, H. & DUNNINGTON, D. (2021). ggplot2: create elegant data Visualisations using the grammar of graphics. R package version 3.3.5. Electronic file available at https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/ ggplot2/index.html. Accessed 30.5.2022.
- WICKHAM, H., FRANÇOIS, R., HENRY, L. & MÜLLER, K. (2022). dplyr: a grammar of data manipulation. R package version 1.0.8. Electronic file available at https://cran. r-project.org/web/packages/dplyr/index.html. Accessed 30.5.2022.
- WILKE, T. (2004). How dependable is a non-local molecular clock? A reply to Hausdorf et al. (2003). Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 30, 835–840.
- WILKE, T., HAUFFE, T., JOVANOVSKA, E., CVETKOSKA, A., DONDERS, T., EKSCHMITT, K., FRANCKE, A., LACEY, J. H., LEVKOV, Z., MARSHALL, C. R., NEUBAUER, T. A., SILVESTRO, D., STELBRINK, B., VOGEL, H., ALBRECHT, C., *ET AL.* (2020). Deep drilling reveals massive shifts in evolutionary dynamics after formation of ancient ecosystem. *Science Advances* 6, eabb2943.
- WILKE, T., KEHLMAIER, C., STELBRINK, B., ALBRECHT, C. & BOUCHET, P. (2023). Historical DNA solves century-old mystery on sessility in freshwater gastropods. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 185, 107813.
- WILLMANN, R. (1981). Evolution, Systematik und stratigraphische Bedeutung der neogenen Süßwassergastropoden von Rhodos und Kos/Ägäis. *Palaeontographica Abt.* A 174, 10–235.
- YEN, T.-C. (1948). Paleocene fresh-water mollusks from southern Montana. United States Geological Survey Professional Paper 214–C, 35–50.
- YEN, T.-C. (1949a). Review of Palaeozoic non-marine gastropods and description of a new genus from the Carboniferous rocks of Scotland. *Proceedings of the Malaeological Society of London* 27, 235–240.
- YEN, T.-C. (1949b). Review of the Lower Cretaceous fresh-water molluscan faunas of North America. *Journal of Paleontology* 23, 465–470.
- YEN, T.-C. (1951a). Some Triassic fresh-water gastropods from Northern Arizona. American Journal of Science 249, 671–675.
- YEN, T.-C. (1951b). Fresh-water mollusks of cretaceous age from Montana and Wyoming. Part 1: a fluviatile fauna from the Kootenai formation near Harlowton, Montana. United States Geological Survey Professional Paper 233-A, 1–9.
- YEN, T.-C. (1952a). Freshwater molluscan fauna from an Upper Cretaceous porcellanite near Sage Junction, Wyoming. American Journal of Science 250, 344-359.
- YEN, T.-C. (1952b). Molluscan fauna of the Morrison formation. United States Geological Survey Professional Paper 233-B, 21–51.

Biological Reviews (2023) 000-000 © 2023 The Author. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

- YEN, T.-C. (1954). Nonmarine mollusks of late cretaceous age from Wyoming, Utah and Colorado. Part 1: a fauna from western Wyoming. United States Geological Survey Professional Paper 254-B, 45–59.
- YING, T., FÜRSICH, F. T. & SCHNEIDER, S. (2013). Giant Viviparidae (Gastropoda: Architacnioglossa) from the early Oligocene of the Nanning Basin (Guangxi, SE China). Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie, Abhandlungen 267, 75–87.
- YING, T., SHAW, D. & SCHNEIDER, S. (2018). Oligocene fossil assemblages from Lake Nanning (Yongning Formation; Nanning Basin, Guangxi Province, SE China): biodiversity and evolutionary implications. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* 505, 100–119.
- YOULUO (I.E. 'THE EDITORIAL GROUP') (1978). Early Tertiary Gastropod Fossils from the Coastal Region of Bohai. Geological Publishing House, Nanjing.
- Yü, W. (1977). Cretaccous and early tertiary non-marine gastropods from South China with their stratigraphical significance. Acta Palaeontologica Sinica 16, 191–213.
- YÜ, W. & PAN, H.-Z. (1980). Mesozoic non-marine gastropods from Zhejiang and South Anhui. In Divisions and Correlation of the Mesozoic Volcano-Sedimentary Rocks in Zhejiang and Anhui Provinces, China, pp. 135–172. Academia Sinica, Nanking Institute of Geology and Paleontology, Nanking.
- Yü, W. & PAN, H.-Z. (1982). Eocene non-marine Gastropoda from Zhuo Xian, Hebei. Bulletin of Nanjing Institute of Geology and Palaeontology 4, 189–212.
- YÜ, W., PAN, H.-Z. & WANG, H.-J. (1982). Late cretaceous and early tertiary nonmarine gastropods from Southern Anhui. *Memoirs of Nanjing Institute of Geology and Palaeontology, Academia Sinica* 17, 1–36.
- YU, X.-H. (1987). Late Jurassic and Early Cretaceous fresh water gastropods (Mollusca) from western Liaoning Province, China. In *Mesozoic Stratigraphy and Palaeontology of Western Liaoning* (Volume 3, eds X.-H. YU, W.-L. WANG, X. LIU, W. ZHANG, S.-L. ZHENG, Z.-C. ZHANG, J.-S. YU, F.-Z. MA, G.-Y. DONG and P.-Y. YAO), pp. 29–116. Geological Publishing House, Beijing.
- ZHURAVLEV, A. Y. & WOOD, R. A. (2018). The two phases of the Cambrian explosion. Scientific Reports 8, 16656.

(Received 31 May 2023; revised 26 August 2023; accepted 29 August 2023)

ZILCH, A. (1959–1960). Gastropoda. Teil 2: Euthyneura. In Handbuch der Paläozoologie, Band 6 (ed. O. H. SCHINDEWOLF). Verlag Gebrüder Borntraeger, Berlin. ZIZKA, A. & ANTONELLI, A. (2018). Mountains of diversity. Nature 555, 173–174.

XI. SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article.

Fig. S1. Fossil species diversity of all freshwater/oligohaline gastropod superfamilies across stratigraphic epochs.

Fig. S2. Fossil species diversity of all freshwater/oligohaline gastropod families across stratigraphic epochs.

Table S1. List of all fossil species-group taxa of freshwater and oligohaline Gastropoda used in analyses.

Table S2. Distribution data in the form of geographic polygons for fossil freshwater and oligohaline Gastropoda.

Table S3. Fossil age data for freshwater and oligohaline Gastropoda.

Table S4. First occurrences of gastropod families containing freshwater taxa in the fossil record.